

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Relationship Among Compensation, Benefits, Intrinsic Motivators, and Potential Referral Candidates

Nathaniel Ryan O'Bear Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nathaniel R. O'Bear

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Janie Mayo, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty Dr. Theresa Neal, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Diane Dusick, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Relationship Among Compensation, Benefits, Intrinsic Motivators,

and Potential Referral Candidates

by

Nathaniel R. O'Bear

MAFM, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2015

BBA, DeVry University, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Abstract

High rates of turnover among truck drivers in the United States limit the abilities of organizations to effectively move freight if organizational leaders cannot efficiently and economically replace drivers. The purpose of this correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral recruiting in transportation organizations. Herzberg's 2-factor theory was the theoretical framework for this study. Secondary data were collected for 566 Class A truck drivers from an Illinois-based partner organization's 2018 employee satisfaction survey. The results of the multiple linear regression analyses indicated a significant relationship exists, F(3,562) = 258.323, p < .001, $R^2 = .580$, among compensation ($\beta = .231$, p < .001.001), benefits ($\beta = .101$, p < .002), intrinsic motivators ($\beta = .554$, p < .001), and potential referral recruiting in transportation organizations. Overall, the independent variables accounted for 58% of the variance in the dependent variable with intrinsic motivators having the largest effect. The implication of these findings for positive social change includes equipping business leaders with information about motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, which might increase community employment levels to improve the standard of living.

Relationship Among Compensation, Benefits, Intrinsic Motivators,

and Potential Referral Candidates

by

Nathaniel R. O'Bear

MAFM, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2015

BBA, DeVry University, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my children. They are the future of the world. I hope they will realize that with hard work and determination, they can persevere and overcome any challenge before them. Anything is possible.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank our Heavenly Father. Without him, I could do nothing. He has given me the grit and aptitude to complete this journey. The Lord has blessed me more than I can ever know.

I would also like to thank my friends and family. They have encouraged me and stuck by me through this hectic time. They understood the struggles I faced through the doctoral process, my absence in daily life, and flexibility that I needed to complete the process.

Finally, I would like to thank my committee members. They provided me with the guidance that I needed to persevere. While not all feedback is easy to swallow, feedback is a gift and I am a better scholar because of it.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement2
Nature of the Study
Research Question and Hypotheses
Theoretical Framework4
Operational Definitions5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations5
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations7
Significance of the Study7
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Application to the Applied Business Problem11
Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory11
Rival Theories17

Table of Contents

Measurement	
Human Resources	
Recruiting Methods	
Referral Recruiting	
Transition	
Section 2: The Project	41
Purpose Statement	41
Role of the Researcher	41
Participants	43
Research Method and Design	45
Research Method	
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	48
Ethical Research	51
Data Collection Instruments	52
Scales of Measurement	
Strategies to Address Reliability and Validity	55
Data Collection Technique	56
Data Analysis	57
Multiple Linear Regression	57
Other Analytical Models	
Data Cleaning	59

Assumptions	59
Inferential Results	60
Study Validity	61
Internal Validity	62
External Validity	65
Transition and Summary	66
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	67
Introduction	67
Presentation of the Findings	67
Descriptive Results	68
Reliability Analysis	69
Test of Assumptions	70
Regression Results	
Summary of the Results	78
Applications to Professional Practice	80
Implications for Social Change	81
Recommendations for Action	82
Recommendations for Further Research	84
Reflections	85
Conclusion	86
References	87

Appendix A: Company Employee Satisfact	ion Survey Questions that Align with
the Study Variables	

List of Tables

Table 1. Source of Data for Literature Review	10
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for Study Variable	69
Table 3. Reliability Table for Compensation, Benefits, Intrinsic Motivation, and	
Potential Referral Recruiting	70
Table 4. Collinearity Statistics	76
Table 5. Regression Analysis for the Predictor Variables	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size	51
Figure 2. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals	71
Figure 3. Frequency histogram of standardized residuals	72
Figure 4. Scatterplot of standardized residuals and standardized predicted values	72
Figure 5. Partial regression plot: Benefits and referral recruiting	73
Figure 6. Partial regression plot: Intrinsic motivators and referral recruiting	74
Figure 7. Partial Regression Plot: Compensation and Referral Recruiting	74

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders could use effective recruiting methods to control costs and maintain an adequate supply of qualified employees. The strategies and policies that organizational leaders choose to enact can have significant effects on the cost and productivity of the firm (Wolthoff, 2018). Organizational leaders may choose to leave a position open longer to obtain correct employee fit, or they may choose among different methods of recruiting. The other side of the recruiting perspective involves the choices of potential candidates and whether they feel they are a match to the organization (Wolthoff, 2018). Candidates may decide to apply to various organizations or choose a select few depending on their wants and needs.

Researchers have examined recruiting from different views. Van Hoye (2013) explored the connection between employees' intrinsic, extrinsic, and prosocial motivations in connection with recruiting. Policymakers may pick more effective recruiting options by understanding what motivates a potential candidate to apply. In this quantitative study, I examined the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

Background of the Problem

Personnel issues present significant challenges to many organizations. Turnover rates at trucking organizations have consistently remained higher than 70% since 2011 (McNally, 2017). Organizational leaders experience large expenses though employee turnover, which is compounded by deficient recruiting methods (Pieper, Greenwald, & Schlachter, 2018). Many managers know turnover affects the bottom line, but they lack

the knowledge of how much and how to reduce the effects (Hinkin & Tracey, 2000). Traditional methods of recruiting may cost organizations more money and yield fewer hires than other methods of recruiting (Rafaeli, Hadomi, & Simons, 2005). Transportation organization leaders might develop the ability to maintain appropriate employment levels by understanding various methods of recruiting.

Problem Statement

Organizational leaders experience difficult choices between expensive and inefficient recruiting methods (Pieper et al., 2018). Thirty-eight percent of public and 48% of private organization directors of 4,000 global companies rated recruiting qualified talent as a key challenge in a 2016 survey (Steffee, 2016). The general business problem was that finding qualified candidates challenges some organizational leaders. The specific business problem was that some transportation business leaders do not understand the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The independent variables were compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators. The dependent variable was potential referral candidates. The targeted population consisted of licensed Class A drivers in Illinois. The implications for positive social change include equipping business leaders with information on motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, thereby

2

increasing community employment levels.

Nature of the Study

Researchers choose between quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods when conducting research (Saunders, Lewis, & Thornhill, 2016). I used the quantitative method because I was looking to see if a relationship existed among the variables: compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral recruiting in transportation organizations. Researchers use the quantitative method when testing the relationship between two or more variables by using numerical data (Saunders et al., 2016).

Researchers traditionally use qualitative research to further discovery (Park & Park, 2016) by relying on the perceptions and lived experiences of the participant (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). I did not select the qualitative method because I wanted to isolate individual variables rather than explore the phenomenon. The mixed-methods study is a mixture of both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Saunders et al., 2016). I did not select mixed methods because using mixed methods would not have helped me to answer my research question.

I considered the causal-comparative and correlational designs within the quantitative research method. The causal-comparative design is appropriate when comparing the means of the dependent variable of two or more mutually exclusive groups, when the independent variables are categorical and not experimentally manipulated (Schenker & Rumrill, 2004). I did not choose the causal-comparative design because I did not intend to compare the means of two groups. The correlational design is appropriate when examining the relationship among variables that the researcher has no control over and when the researcher is not looking to make an inference as to cause and effect (Lappe, 2000). The correlational design was appropriate for this study because I intended to look at the relationship between multiple variables.

Research Question and Hypotheses

RQ: What is the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates?

 H_0 : There is no significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

 H_1 : There is a significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

Theoretical Framework

Herzberg initiated a new line of motivational theories when he developed the twofactor theory in 1959 in which the lack of one set of circumstances demotivates a person while a different set of circumstances provides motivation (Herzberg, Mausner, & Snyderman, 2017). Hygiene factors, demotivators, result from a lack of things such as benefits, pay, quality supervision, and a good physical work environment (Herzberg et al., 2017). By contrast, motivators include things such as challenging work, recognition, and feeling valued within the organization (Herzberg et al., 2017).

Inspiration directly relates to employee motivation (Malik, Javed, & Hassan, 2017). Herzberg et al. (2017) directly identified compensation and benefits as two of the hygiene factors. I expected the predictor variables to distinguish between the likelihood

of whether respondents would refer potential recruits to work for their organization based on Van Hoye's (2013) findings that organizations can increase referral recruiting by acting on employees' intrinsic, extrinsic, and prosocial motivations.

Operational Definitions

Extrinsic satisfaction factors: Extrinsic satisfaction factors are effects that do not originate within the individual, such as the physical work environment, monetary compensation, and job security (Bektas, 2017).

Hygiene factors: Hygiene factors are extrinsic job conditions that when absent, intensify dissatisfaction, but when present, do not greatly motivate employees (Kotni & Karumuri, 2018).

Intrinsic satisfaction factors: Intrinsic satisfaction factors are effects when motivation originates from within the self, such as a feeling of contribution, autonomy, and a sense of belonging (Bektas, 2017).

Motivator factors: Motivator factors are intrinsic job conditions that when present, promote increased productivity and job satisfaction (Kotni & Karumuri, 2018).

Referral recruiting: Referral recruiting is word-of-mouth communication by current employees to recruit others to the organization that is outside of an organization's control (Van Hoye, 2013).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are the ideas or concepts researchers accept as true based on their experiences (Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2013). Researchers must make certain assumptions

for untestable circumstances to allow the observer to draw conclusions from the observed data (Armstrong & Kepler, 2018). While assuming the existence of untestable circumstances to be true, assumptions must still be acknowledged and evaluated (Armstrong & Kepler, 2018). The first assumption was that each participant took the time to answer each question honestly based on their own experiences. The second assumption was that the participants completed the survey free of pressure or influence by outside forces.

In addition to general assumptions in research, quantitative research also includes a series of statistical assumptions that the data must meet to draw valid conclusions. The statistical conclusions include (a) linearity of the residuals, (b) homoscedasticity, (c) independence of the errors or that the same errors are not repeated, (d) normality, (e) multicollinearity, and (f) extreme outliers (Hickey, Kontopantelis, Takkenberg, & Beyersdorf, 2019), which are discussed in more detail in Section 2.

Limitations

All studies have limitations, factors outside of the researcher's control, which have the potential to affect both internal and external validity (Greener, 2018). This study contained two weaknesses. The first weakness of this study was that I used the correlational design. The correlational design contains inherent weaknesses in that correlation only means a statistical relationship exists (Dorestani & Aliabadi, 2017). I would have had to control for all outside influences to ensure only the independent variable influenced the dependent variable and the independent variable changed before the dependent variable in every instance to infer a cause and effect relationship between variables.

The second limitation of this study was that I used secondary data collected by an outside organization. With secondary data, uncertainty may exist around the methods and processes used to collect the data unless the collecting party maintained detailed notes (Ellram & Tate, 2016). Any data source exists from a specific point in time, and archival data reveal what happened in the past, which may lose relevance in the present (Ellram & Tate, 2016).

Delimitations

Simon and Goes (2013) referred to delimitations as the boundaries or scope the researcher self-imposes on the study. I delimited the study to include only licensed Class A truck drivers within the Illinois-based target organization that employs over 5,000 persons. Delimiting a study isolates the objects of concern from the larger phenomenon (Lo, 2016). A third-party organization collected the data through a survey for the Illinois-based transportation organization in this study. The partner organization commissioned the survey in 2018 but conducts similar surveys annually. Delimiting my study may limit generalizability to other geographic locations and professions.

Significance of the Study

Organizational leaders can use the findings to assess whether current employees might refer the organization as a possible employer to others. Significant predictors can become the focus of leadership initiatives to increase referral recruiting. The implications for positive social change include equipping business leaders with information on motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, thereby increasing community employment levels.

Contribution to Business Practice

Much of the literature in the 2010s focuses on the retention of current employees rather than recruitment. An organization cannot retain employees if it does not hire them in the first place. Referred workers stay longer, perform better across some metrics, and produce higher profits per worker (Burks, Cowgill, Hoffman, & Housman, 2015). The potential insight obtained from this study may provide organizational leaders with data to build strategies to effectively increase driver referrals, resulting in better productivity, reduced recruiting costs, and increased profits.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include equipping business leaders with information on motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, thereby increasing community employment levels. Employees might submit friends and family when they participate in referral programs. Some organizations hire more referrals than outside candidates, which may increase employment levels for the local community. Increased employment levels could equate to a higher standard of living for members of the community.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Organizational leaders could use recruiting and retention of talent as one of their operating strategies. Recruiting costs can adversely affect the bottom line of businesses (Rafaeli et al., 2005). Organizational leaders may consider exploring and adopting a more cost-effective means of recruiting. The purpose of this quantitative correlational

study was to understand the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations.

By understanding the relationship among the variables, organizational leaders can develop strategies that might enable them to increase the potential for referral recruiting. The literature review is a critical step in a research document because it helps the author to become more of a subject matter expert as well as helping to identify specific gaps in existing research (Saunders et al., 2016). The literature review is the foundation for readers to understand the basics and to see the need for this study (Saunders et al., 2016).

The research question and hypotheses were:

RQ: What is the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates?

 H_0 : There is no significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

 H_1 : There is a significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates

To start this literature review, I read other dissertations and collected any appropriate sources of literature in terms of topic and publication date. Based on the references I collected, I used Google Scholar and the Walden University online library for citation chaining. This literature review consists of peer-reviewed articles, dissertations, academic books, and other scholarly articles on recruitment and motivational theory.

The selected literature includes both qualitative and quantitative studies. I used

Academic Source Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald Insight, ProQuest Central, and ScienceDirect as my primary databases. Some of the key search terms included strategic management, two-factor theory, personnel management, Hertzberg, referral recruiting, and attracting talent. References with publication dates 2015 and newer represent 91% of the references in the literature review (see Table 1).

Table 1

Literature review source content			
		Total within	%
		5 years of expected	Within 5
	Total	graduation date	years (2019)
Peer-reviewed	84	78	93%
journals			
Other scholarly	6	5	83%
articles			
Books	5	3	60%
Total	95	86	91%

Source of Data for Literature Review

The literature review consists of a variety of topics that starts with my chosen theoretical lens and rival theories. I reviewed the independent variables of (a) compensation, (b) benefits, and (c) intrinsic job factors. I also reviewed the literature on the dependent variable of referral recruiting, the benefits of using referral recruiting, and how referral recruiting compares with other common recruiting methods. I address the survey questions and how they measure the variables and finally end the literature review with a transition to Section 2.

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to understand the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The target population consisted of licensed Class A truck drivers from a large transportation company in Illinois. The implications for positive social change could include equipping business leaders with information on motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, thereby increasing community employment levels.

Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory

In 1959, Herzberg, Mausner, and Snyderman developed a new theory on what motivates employees to perform their best at work (Herzberg et al., 2017). The authors began the journey 2 years earlier when they reviewed studies that appeared to contradict each other (Herzberg et al., 2017). Current researchers refer to the theory that emerged as Herzberg's two-factor theory. Herzberg predicated in his theory that workers find motivation in the intrinsic factors of their jobs, while simultaneously becoming demotivated by a lack of hygiene factors at their jobs (Herzberg et al., 2017). Kalhoro, Jhatial, and Khokhar (2017) concluded both intrinsic and extrinsic factors play an equal role in creating a motivated employee. The first construct Herzberg identified in the twofactor theory comes from factors outside of the person's control.

Extrinsic factors. Herzberg et al. (2017) identified the first of two constructs as the hygiene factors or the items over which the employee exhibits no control within the workplace. The presence of the hygiene factors will not motivate the employee, yet the

absence of hygiene factors will serve to demotivate the employee. The hygiene factors include (a) salary and benefits, (b) organizational policies, (c) supervisor relationship and treatment, (d) peer relationships, and (e) physical work environment (Tania, 2016). The most common and basic extrinsic factors include remuneration and benefits (Bercu & Onofrei, 2017; Kalhoro et al., 2017). Direct compensation provides a means for employees to provide for most needs.

Base pay. People must have the ability to make a decent wage to support a decent standard of living. Sage (2016) noted some participants based the attractiveness of some jobs on how the wages compare to other positions. Some employees leave a job because they consider the salary inadequate (Covington-Ward, 2017). Salary directly affects a person's ability to create an adequate lifestyle and support their family. People may not accept a position or continue employment when they feel direct compensation falls short of their expectations.

Snelgar, Shelton, and Giesser (2017) found lower-income populations had more intrinsic motivation than their higher-income counterparts, contrary to many of the references the authors cited in their literature review. Employees who feel their pay meets their expectations are more likely to experience higher intrinsic factors (Renard & Snelgar, 2015). The perception of adequate pay reinforces the notion that pay may not truly motivate someone, but a lack of pay could potentially demotivate the individual.

Additional compensation. Herzberg et al. (2017) presented all compensation as a single hygiene factor. However, in the context of the U.S. workforce, benefits compensation has become just as important as base salary. Workers in the United States

are less likely to quit their job when their employer provides a private medical insurance plan (Renaud, Morin, & Bechard, 2017). Renaud et al. (2017) also showed adequate traditional benefits as a whole increase an employee's organizational commitment. Benefits outside of direct compensation provide an important incentive to U.S. employees. Employees with higher organizational commitment provide a benefit to the organization.

Other hygiene factors. Extrinsic factors extend beyond just base compensation and benefits. Herzberg included other hygiene factors in his theory such as safety (physical work environment), fair policies, and decent treatment by others (Herzberg et al., 2017). In the context of professional truck drivers, because of the lifestyle they live, safety plays the most important role. The safety climate of an organization directly relates to employee commitment and potential recruiting outcomes (Swartz, Douglas, Roberts, & Overstreet, 2017). A safety-conscious organization most likely exhibits other desirable policies.

Intrinsic factors. Herzberg identified the second construct as the motivational factors or those items that come from within the employee (Herzberg et al., 2017). The intrinsic factors directly affect employee motivation. The motivational factors include (a) achievement, (b) recognition, (c) responsibility, (d) advancement, and (e) the actual work (Tania, 2016). Many organizations focus on the extrinsic needs of the employee and fail to address the intrinsic needs (Kalhoro et al., 2017). Committed employees find importance and meaning in their jobs from within themselves.

Inspiration directly relates to motivation in employees. Inspired employees feel

mastery over their work, optimism, and a sense of accomplishment (Wartiovaara, Lahti, & Wincent, 2019). Organizations gain two-fold from motivated employees. Motivated employees perform better than unmotivated employees, and the motivation can transfer to others who come in contact with the motivated employee (Wartiovaara et al., 2019). Inspired employees have a sense of purpose and self-worth that may eventually lead to personal growth (Wartiovaara et al., 2019). Inspired employees could potentially show more work motivation and provide the organization with long term talent.

Herzberg identified several examples of intrinsic motivators (Herzberg et al., 2017). Organizational leaders can use appreciation and recognition as one way to effectively provide inspiration and motivation to their employees (Shonubi, Abdullah, Hashim, & Ab Hamid, 2016). Showing appreciation and recognition reinforces the employees' self-esteem and self-worth. Ensuring good employees have opportunities to advance also aids with intrinsic motivation (Holmberg, Sobis, & Caro, 2017). Employees and people, in general, care about a fair play environment and expect to see rewards go to those who deserve them (Shonubi et al., 2016). Organizations that award promotions and advancement to the best employees rather than showing favoritism will likely have a well-motivated employee base.

Application of two-factor theory. Herzberg's two-factor theory has been the basis of many studies. Tania (2016) concluded that while a lack of salary might cause someone to seek alternative employment, the presence of a good salary will not guarantee employee commitment to the organization. In the same study, Tania also concluded that salary, in conjunction with other hygiene and motivational factors, combine to affect

overall employee satisfaction.

Kalhoro et al. (2017) showed the importance of organizations helping to provide both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to their employees and how both factors improved organizational commitment in addition to increasing employee efficiency. The results of the studies helped to reinforce in the 2000s what Herzberg and his colleagues posited in the 1950s. Many researchers have tested and made conclusions similar to Herzberg's original work.

Culture. Some researchers have used Herzberg's two-factor theory to test motivation in different cultures. Culture plays a key role in how people perceive what motivates them (Matei & Abrudan, 2016; Snelgar et al., 2017). What motivates one group of people may not necessarily motivate a different group. Snelgar et al. (2017) discovered marked differences in the levels of intrinsic motivation between South Africans and Germans. However, in both countries, Snelgar et al. determined intrinsic motivation levels outpaced extrinsic motivation levels.

Ahmad (2018) determined the people of India place more value in the extrinsic rather than intrinsic factors. Ahmad also noted the value placed on extrinsic factors might stem from the depressed economic state of India. Matei and Abrudan (2016) declared that in its current state, Herzberg's two-factor theory contains no validity in terms of Romanian culture. In terms of culture, masculine cultures focus on money and achievement, whereas feminine cultures focus more on work-life balance and relationships (Matei & Abrudan, 2016; Snelgar et al., 2017). People grow up with different values based on what the people around them value. *Economic climate*. Some researchers have attributed the importance of extrinsic versus intrinsic motivators on the economic climate of the studied location. For instance, Ahmad (2018) noted that in the depressed economic state of India, employees valued extrinsic over intrinsic motivators. Fareed and Jan (2016) also noted a preference of extrinsic over intrinsic motivators in Pakistan, which also lacks wealth. In countries such as Romania (Bercu & Onofrei, 2017) or South Africa and Germany (Snelgar et al., 2017) that have decent economic conditions, the people value intrinsic over extrinsic over extrinsic motivators. The more material possessions people have, the less they need or may want.

Industry. Some researchers have used Herzberg's two-factor theory to explore what motivates employees based on the industry in which they work. Kotni and Karumuri (2018) determined in the retail sales segment in India, employees preferred extrinsic over intrinsic motivators. Fareed and Jan (2016) claimed bankers in Pakistan prefer extrinsic of intrinsic motivation. On the other hand, Bercu and Onofrei (2017) stated civil servants in Romania prefer intrinsic over extrinsic motivators. Employees may choose their job field based on the values they already possess.

It is difficult to say which factor truly determines whether intrinsic or extrinsic factors play a bigger role than the other. Different studies from the same country attribute the preference of one set of factors over the other to culture, economic climate, and industry segment. In the end, both intrinsic and extrinsic factors shape motivation. Additional studies that control for different factors could aid in narrowing the leading causes for the different preferences between extrinsic and intrinsic factors (Bercu & Onofrei, 2017; Kotni & Karumuri, 2018; Snelgar et al., 2017).

Rival Theories

Not all researchers would agree Herzberg's theory adequately addresses the topic of employee motivation. Jing, Shuwen, and Zaidi (2017) contended Herzberg presented an incomplete theory. Matei and Abrudan (2016) concluded Herzberg's two-factor theory does not apply to research in Romania because of the cultural context of the primary factors Herzberg listed as motivators and hygiene factors.

However, Matei and Abrudan (2016) did agree with Herzberg's basic premise that employee satisfaction stems from intrinsic and extrinsic factors, but the factors are reversed in Romanian research. As with any theoretical lens that a researcher intends to use, the researcher must ensure the lens and its constructs align with the research aims.

Hierarchy of needs theory. Maslow developed his hierarchy of needs theory in 1943 (Aanstoos, 2018). A psychologist like Herzberg, Maslow (1943) attributed motivations at work to the basic human needs, unlike Herzberg et al. (2017) who attributed motivation at work to attaining rewards and incentives. Researchers can use either theory to view the variables within their own study so long as the theory constructs align with the research variables.

Maslow (1943) identified five levels of needs that must be fulfilled in order from the most basic to the most complex, and a person's motivations fall within their current need. The five levels consist of (a) physiological, such as the need to eat, sleep, and reproduce; (b) safety, such as shelter and the need to be free of physical harm, (c) love, such as the need to connect with others and have meaningful relationships with friends and family; (d) esteem, such as stability, respect, and achievement; and (e) selfactualization in that a person must do what they feel they were meant to do to feel satisfied (Maslow, 1943). Within the hierarchy, a lower need must be met for the motivation to shift to the next higher need. Without food and rest, a person will leave safety to satisfy their hunger. Maslow's theory presents both strengths and weaknesses as it pertains to Herzberg's two-factor theory.

Maslow's theory would explain why in studies such as Ahmad (2018) and Fareed and Jan (2016), employees in depressed economies would prefer extrinsic motivators such as additional compensation. Additional finances allow the individual to provide food and shelter for themselves and their families. However, Maslow's theory fails to explain why some people choose a job that provides more intrinsic motivation, while the extrinsic factors make life more difficult.

Renard and Snelgar (2015) noted many nonprofit workers would take jobs with pay well below the market rate because of the opportunity to do good or to make a difference, which are intrinsic job motivators. Rahimi, Divsalar, Rezvani, Aramoon, and Pourranjbar (2016) used Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory as their theoretical framework and noted lifeguards work in hazardous conditions but still seek the higherorder motivators. Based on Maslow's hierarchy, people should not seek higher-level needs when the basic needs remain unfilled.

Helbling (2018) contended Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory contains some merit, but researchers have used a flawed theory since 1959, nearly 60 years. Jyothi (2016) suggested Maslow's theory in the professional environment may apply to different life stages rather than immediate needs. As employees mature, their needs shift from material to philosophical.

Maslow's work influenced many other scientists such as Herzberg, Vroom, and McClelland to research human motivations. While Maslow (1943) decided motivation existed in a hierarchy, Herzberg et al. (2017) developed their theory with respect to multiple factors existing simultaneously. Maslow, Herzberg, Vroom, and McClelland each developed their theory based on their own observations and the conditions of the time in which they conducted their research.

Expectancy theory. Like Herzberg, Vroom felt no good model existed at the time to measure workplace motivation. Vroom developed the expectancy theory in 1964 (Hoffman-Miller, 2019), around the same general time frame as Herzberg's two-factor theory. Vroom's expectancy theory suggests people derive motivation based on the expected return of their efforts (Baciu, 2017). In expectancy theory, Vroom developed the construct of *motivational force* as the product of *expectancy, instrumentality*, and *valence* (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018).

The three variables in expectancy affect each other dependent on the individual person. Expectancy is when the employee believes a certain amount of effort will result in the desired outcome (Beiu & Davidescu, 2018). Instrumentality is when the employee's belief that if they achieve the desired outcome, they will receive the reward (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Finally, valance refers to the employee's desire for the expected outcome or reward (Baciu, 2017).

Expectancy theory depends on how much someone wants something and how likely the chance they will receive it given a certain behavior (Beiu & Davidescu, 2018).

People may be willing to sacrifice certain comforts or needs found in Maslow's hierarchy of needs if they have a enough of a chance to get something they really want. Vroom's expectancy theory involves both intrinsic and extrinsic components in the instrumentality and valence factors (Beiu & Davidescu, 2018). Herzberg's two-factor theory and Vroom's expectancy theory offer two different views that include both intrinsic and extrinsic factors. However, while Vroom looked at motivation as a combination of all the factors, Herzberg claimed the presence of the extrinsic factors does not increase motivation.

Self-determination theory. Deci and Ryan provided a different perspective on motivation with the self -determination theory. *Self-Determination and Intrinsic Motivation in Human Behavior* (Deci & Ryan ,1985) stemmed from Deci and Ryan's collaborative works on motivation in the 1970s and 1980s (Terry, 2013). Deci studied under Vroom but developed his early works based on the works of White and de Charms (as cited in Terry, 2013). Deci and Ryan posited both intrinsic and extrinsic factors play a role in motivation, but as extrinsic rewards increase, the effect of intrinsic motivation to complete the task decreases (Olafsen, Niemiec, Halvari, Deci, & Williams, 2017). Balancing intrinsic and extrinsic motivation may challenge organizational managers.

Self-determination theory contends that motivation derives from a balance of the employer and employee. The level of engagement and motivation of the employee comes from within, but the employer may conduct activities that can positively influence the employee (Osborne & Hammoud, 2017). In self-determination theory, the extrinsic factors revolve more around achieving desired outcomes such as obtaining status, but the theory truly centers on three factors of intrinsic motivation: autonomy competence, and relatedness (Ju, Ma, Ren, & Zhang, 2019). Autonomy or self-regulation means the individual has the ability to choose a certain course of action (Ross & Barnes, 2018). Competence is the construct in which a person feels the decisions they make will affect the outcome of a situation (Ju et al., 2019). Relatedness occurs when the individual can connect with others whom they trust and value (Groen, Wouters, & Wilderom, 2017). Employers need to find a balance between ways to increase motivation and the needs of the organization as it pertains to the three factors of self-determination theory.

Herzberg et al. (2017) would contend the extrinsic factors are a necessity, whereas Deci and Ryan (1985) might say the extrinsic factors interfere with satisfaction. Deci and Ryan's theory says the introduction of extrinsic rewards for things a person finds intrinsically rewarding will make the task less intrinsically satisfying (Terry, 2013), while Herzberg's theory states a lack of extrinsic factors will cause dissatisfaction. Both twofactor theory and self-determination theory include that satisfaction comes from intrinsic factors. However, the two-factor and self-determination theories differ on the role of extrinsic factors. Two-factor, hierarchy of needs, expectancy, and self-determination theories all include intrinsic and extrinsic motivation as constructs for measuring the level of employee satisfaction.

Measurement

Choosing the most appropriate measurement tool for a study will impact the validity of the results. Measuring satisfaction and motivation challenges researchers because of the various instruments and outside factors that can affect results (Feather,

2015). However, the benefits of measuring motivation and job satisfaction can benefit organizations due to the costs associated with recruiting and training new employees. Because each study contains unique factors the researcher wants to explore, each survey or measurement device may need customization to fit the parameters of the study (Liu & Wohlsdorf Arendt, 2016). Crutzen and Peters (2017) noted that even successful measurements instruments might not fit every study. Several successful measurement instruments already exist.

Surveys. Researchers use surveys as a way to collect data from research participants. Quantitative researchers use surveys as a primary means of data collections (Saunders et al., 2016). Researchers can use online surveys to collect data from difficult to reach participants more quickly and cost-effectively than traditional methods (Cotteleer & Wan, 2016). Moreover, researchers using online surveys provide a convenience to the participant because the participant can complete the survey anywhere that has an internet connection, which may help with response rates (Ostrow, Penney, Stuart, & Leaf, 2017). M. Liu (2017) found nonresponses decreased using online surveys compared to face-to-face surveys. Researchers also save time using digital data because the participant is typing in the information rather than the researcher (Ostrow et al., 2017). Staats, Lohaus, Christmann, and Woitschek (2017) used an online survey to gather information on truck drivers' working conditions. Overall, using online surveys saves time and money for the researchers, while providing more convenience and perceived anonymity to the participants.

Researchers must be cautious when using archival data. A data set may not

22

appropriately depict a given construct essential to the research initiative (Barnes, Dang, Leavitt, Guarana, & Uhlmann, 2015). Careful selection of variables may allow the researcher to effectively align the study with the available data (Barnes et al., 2015). Cheng, Song, and Li (2017) and Tian, Yu, and Zhang (2017) both used the 2014 Chinese Employer-Employee Survey (CEES) for their studies. Researchers can use secondary data to complete successful studies. For this study, the partner organization had already collected the appropriate data, which I analyzed to find the trends.

In the context of this study, no single instrument exists to measure the independent and dependent variables. A researcher may benchmark single questions across different surveys (Hartebrodt & Chtioui, 2016). The UWES-9 and the Job Satisfaction Survey (JSS), both recognized measurement instruments, contain identical questions to the independent variable questions from this study. Using employee surveys allows researchers to retrieve data from normal activities. Cheng et al. (2017) used the 2014 CEES, an employee survey, to explore how middle managers affect firm performance. With this study, the employees already take an annual survey, which makes the data already available without inconveniencing or creating unusual circumstances for the participants.

Work & Well Being Survey. Researchers use the Work & Well Being Survey (UWES-9). Schaufeli and Bakker (2004) designed the original UWES with 24 questions to measure worker engagement characterized through vigor, dedication, and absorption with burnout having a negative effect. Schaufeli and Bakker parred down the survey to 17 questions to increase the psychometric properties of the instrument. Schaufeli,
Bakker, and Salanova (2006) allowed the UWES to be reduced again by another eight questions, thereby producing the UWES-9.

Kulikowski (2017) examined 21 studies that employed different versions of the UWES and concluded the UWES-9 surpassed the UWES in validity and reliability. Engagement may not directly predict performance; however, Shuck, Zigarmi, and Owen (2015) linked engagement to motivation using the UWES-9 instrument and selfdetermination theory as their theoretical lens. While not perfect, researchers commonly use the UWES-9 as an instrument to evaluate employee engagement.

Job Satisfaction Survey. Researchers around the globe use the Job Satisfaction Survey (JSS) as an instrument when measuring employee job satisfaction. Spector (1994) developed the JSS to measure nine aspects of employee satisfaction, which includes (a) pay, (b) promotion, (c) supervision, (d) benefits, (e) contingent rewards, (f) operating procedures, (g) co-workers, (h) nature of the work, and (i) communication (Batura, Skordis-Worrall, Thapa, Basnyat, & Morrison, 2016). While researchers recognize the JSS as a valid instrument when looking at employee satisfaction and motivation, the JSS may not apply to all situations. In a validation study by Batura et al. (2016), the researchers decided that as a whole, the JSS applied, but lacked some crucial context.

Human Resources

The human resources personnel play an important role in the success of failure of a business. Business demands change quickly and often, and organizational leaders need to have appropriate strategies to adapt (Asci, 2017). Human resources help to set and monitor the policies of the organization. Strategic human resources management (SHRM) provides recruiting strategies to attract a group of talented employees that provide a strategic advantage to the organization (Asci, 2017; Eneh & Awara, 2016).

According to Asci (2017), the pool of available skilled talent is expected to shrink over the coming years. Strategic human resources management strategies are critical for an organization to grow (Eneh & Awara, 2016; Sawitri & Muis, 2014). Human resources act as the first line in the battle for acquiring and keeping talent. Human resources must analyze and understand their effect on the organization.

Human resource managers and recruiters need to remain agile in the constantly changing business environment without losing quality within the hiring process. Moore (2017) showed humans lack the ability to accurately predict performance potential in other people without standardized objective measures and would argue the current process is inefficient. Moore suggested truly objective measures such as aptitude tests and scoring structured interviews, resumes, and references with predetermined criterion. Moore also noted interviewers should use the average score to pick the best candidate rather than an open debate. Human resources personnel need strategies in place to effectively contribute to the organization.

Retention. Retention of employees closely relates to recruiting. Many of the same issues that make an employee stay or leave a company are likely to dissuade or attract an employee to that same organization. Employees who fit well into the organization can potentially achieve greater satisfaction, while employee turnover can decrease others' satisfaction (Gonzalez & Rivares, 2018). The reputation of an

organization matters to employees and affects job satisfaction (Tripathi & Pandey, 2017). Job satisfaction directly affects turnover intention (Frederiksen, 2017; Lee, Yang, & Li, 2017; Tripathi & Pandey, 2017). Organizational leaders can review current retention and employee feedback as a way to attract other employees to the firm.

An organization could actively use employee satisfaction surveys to aid in their recruiting efforts. Frederiksen (2017) developed a model that would allow organizations to predict which employees would stay and which would quit based on personnel files and employee satisfaction surveys. Employee turnover costs money in various ways to include loss of productivity in vacant positions.

Frederiksen (2017) would allow an organization to hire prior to the employee selfterminating through the power of his predictive model. In addition to increasing recruiting efforts for specific jobs, the organization could better plan for the succession of key positions (Frederiksen, 2017). Leaders who get ahead of employee losses could aid their organizations in maintaining staffing levels and in turn, performance and morale.

Driver turnover. In transportation organizations, driver turnover dominates human resource personnel's priorities. According to McNally (2018), driver turnover reached 89%, up 2% over 2017, for large transportation companies. Truck drivers move 70% of freight in the United States (Swartz et al., 2017). Transportation organizations depend on their drivers, so they must ensure they either can reduce turnover or provide a steady supply of new drivers.

Work conditions. Many variables affect employee stress and in turn employee satisfaction and motivation with truck drivers. Many truck drivers spend long periods of

time away from their families and friends (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a), in addition to the inherent hazardous working conditions (Swartz et al., 2017). In 2017, 840 truck drivers died from work-related causes, the highest among all occupations, which equates to 16% of all work-related fatalities in the United States (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a). In the same time frame, 47,860 nonfatal injuries were reported, which was the second-highest occupation and equated to a little over 4% of all injuries reported in the United States (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a). Truck drivers find themselves away from their families in extremely dangerous situations, which likely cause great amounts of stress and concern.

Truck drivers fall short in many of the areas other occupations might take for granted. Truck drivers have higher rates of disease, obesity, and poor dietary habits (Staats et al., 2017). Furthermore, drivers report a lack of understanding or caring from their employers in regards the health risks (Staats et al., 2017). Indian and U.S. truck drivers feel underappreciated and overworked (Mittal, Udayakumar, Raghuram, & Bajaj, 2018). The lifestyle can create a feeling of isolation and loneliness, which can lead to high levels of psychological stress for the driver (Williams, Thomas, & Liao-Troth, 2017).

Furthermore, Cardoso, Fulton, Callaghan, Johnson, and Albert (2018) noted physical and psychological factors, such as fatigue and coping mechanisms are closely linked in professional drivers. Hatami, Vosoughi, Hosseini, and Ebrahimi (2019) found team drivers experience less stress and in turn, fewer instances of depression than single drivers. The link between physical and psychological factors could prompt carriers to show more care for their drivers. High levels of stress and feeling unappreciated or uncared for can decrease job satisfaction and motivation to perform well for the organization. Vulnerable employees mean that transportation organizations will have to compete for employees by showing they care for the drivers' well-being.

Competition. A vast number of truck transportation companies exist in the United States, from small fleets with a few trucks to the largest companies with thousands of trucks. The U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019a) predicted a growth in truck driver jobs of 5.8% between 2016 and 2026, in addition to the already shortage of qualified drivers and drivers expected to retire over the next few years. The number of transportation organizations coupled with the driver shortage creates a highly competitive environment to try to attract truck drivers.

Trucking companies must also contend with government regulations. The U.S. government put rules surrounding hours of service for drivers, which means a single driver can no longer complete the same number of hours per day as they had previously (Mittal et al., 2018). The hours of service regulations create a need for additional drivers to move the same amount of cargo. The pressure from regulations may help shape the deciding factors for drivers because some organizations may push drivers to the maximum to satisfy customer orders, while others may adopt a more safety-conscious policy (Swartz et al., 2017). Organizational leaders must choose the best balance of policies to still meet legal requirements, customer demands, and driver satisfaction.

Recruiting. Several researchers noted that it is difficult to maintain hiring levels and quality candidates. C. F. Brown (2017) reviewed the strategies manufacturing companies use to hire skilled labor and found that despite the profitability of the industry, manufacturing companies still struggle to hire qualified workers. Castellano (2016; as cited in Asci, 2017) illustrated that even with perpetually high global unemployment rates, many organizations still struggle to recruit the correct talent when necessary. Organizational leaders need to understand the effect of having appropriate strategies in place to attract qualified candidates.

The reason why organizations struggle to attract the correct candidate may be due to not understanding the relationship between different hiring factors and then having appropriate strategies in place to do so. Hill (2017) cited Nonprofit HR's 2016 survey of 443 organizations in which the second biggest staffing concern is not being able to find qualified candidates. The results of the survey showed that in larger organizations, 41% of them did not have formal recruiting strategies, and 59% of them did not have formal recruiting budgets (Hill, 2017). The numbers declined with medium and smaller companies (Hill, 2017). The lack of formal strategies demonstrated some organizations clearly do not understand the beneficial effects of properly crafted plans.

Recruiting Methods

Different organizational leaders develop their hiring strategies and requirements around different expectations. While still necessary, education alone does not necessarily predict successful job performance (Patterson et al., 2016). Not every position requires advanced education, and many positions can utilize on the job training. People value different things. There must be an alignment of personal and organizational values for an employee to function properly and to achieve success within a role.

Russell and Brannan (2016) noted in their study that the participant company emphasized the organizational mission and values above skills in written documents and personal encounters in their recruiting strategy. Organizations can achieve better performance by selecting appropriate employees from the beginning by using the strategies of value-based recruiting (Patterson et al., 2016). Organizations have at their disposal, a variety of different recruiting strategies, which vary in complexity and cost.

Advertising. Transportation organizational leaders can use advertising as a method to attract qualified candidates for their job openings. An organizational leader can broadcast certain policies to the public to attract the specific types of workers they want to employ (Ali, 2016). Organizations need to explain the policies to employees and candidates as to how the policies benefit everyone (Ellemers & Rink, 2016). By broadcasting equitable policies, an organization attracts all employees and becomes the type of place people seek out for employment (Ali, 2016). Many employees in the modern job market look for reputable and socially responsible employers.

Brand recognition affects candidate choice when selecting an organization. Many organizations strive to be the employer of choice by selecting personnel that live the brand because employees that exhibit personality and performance in contrast to the brand can adversely affect organizational image (Russell & Brannan, 2016). Effective branding of an organization constantly occurs when an organization presents its core values and brand promise in recruiting advertising.

Organizational leaders must also present truthful and complete information about their company and job positions. Ellis, Skidmore, and Combs (2017) supported the notion that an accurate job preview determines a significant portion of job satisfaction. The candidate enters into employment with an organization already knowing what to expect in terms of responsibilities, values, and culture. Organizational leaders can advertise items known to create high job satisfaction within their recruiting efforts.

Early-career employees are likely to change organizations in higher numbers than some other demographics based on job satisfaction (Lee et al., 2017). People who are actively looking for new organizations are looking for things such as environment, worklife balance, and professional growth (Lee et al., 2017). An organization with a successful recruiting strategy could target these early-career employees to change companies. Early-career employees are essential to a company looking to create strong and steady growth opportunities (Lee et al., 2017). Organizational leaders should not limit themselves to a single type of advertising.

Traditional. Traditional recruiting involves many classic methods. Some methods may include community bulletin boards and newspapers (Dalessandro, 2018). Newspaper advertising may include regional or national newspapers (Rafaeli et al., 2005). However, newspaper recruiting may cost organizations a high per hire cost. Rafaeli et al. (2005) found an average cost of \$22,652 per employee to hire 23 employees, which represented 3.2% of the traditional media applicant pool. The cost to hire through traditional methods does not have a high yield but has a high cost to hire

31

before the organization ever starts training the new employee. Organizations have more options to attract potential employees as the world becomes more connected.

Digital. Organizations can utilize digital recruiting and selection to provide flexibility. Flexible recruiting strategies allow scalability based on current demand without added costs (Lam & Hawkes, 2017). Changing from analog to digital recruiting and hiring processes provides a better candidate experience and has the potential to reduce costs for the organization for recruiting and selection (Lam & Hawkes, 2017). For the Shell Oil Company, before implementing a digital recruiting strategy, time to hire consistently showed up on candidate feedback as a negative (Lam & Hawkes, 2017). Large or expansive organizations could benefit from utilizing digital recruiting to improve the candidate experience from the beginning.

Digital recruiting in the 2010s business environment involves a variety of options. Many employers recruit passively through online job posting sites or actively using social media sites to recruit potential employees. Utilizing digital technologies helps employers reach the newer generation of potential candidates, because of millennials' comfortability and preference of using the internet over classic print media (Dalessandro, 2018). Furthermore, viewing social media sites allows employers to better evaluate prospective candidates' skills and relationships (Ashuri & Bar-Ilan, 2017; Duffy & Schwartz, 2018). Organizations can use digital methods to provide better access and communication with potential employees when used in conjunction with other proven methods.

School partnerships. Outside of actual advertising, organizations can utilize various other methods to attract potential employees. One would expect, higher levels of

education will produce higher quality employees (Benos & Karagiannis, 2016). Some companies are using a pipeline structure to facilitate personnel management. The organization will facilitate education and training programs.

Flynn, Pillay, and Watters (2016) performed a study in Australia in which they followed specific companies' processes on how they acquired certain types of talent. In this instance, the company partnered with local high schools to develop a curriculum to help students prepare for the workforce. The company also created on the job training programs and internships to help provide the last pieces of knowledge the new employees would need.

There are other instances within the United States in which local community colleges will partner with major companies to provide job skill training. These types of programs work well when the job is technical and labor-intensive. An internship is a good tool for helping a prospective employee learn the organization's inner working before applying for full-time employment (Dailey, 2016). However, the intern may not be any more skilled than they already were because of the type of work they will most likely have performed during the internship. Many employers give interns grunt work or short-term projects to work on, which generally does not relate to anything a regular employee might be doing.

Many of the same methods used to recruit college athletes can be used to recruit employees into an organization. Richardson and Gabbin (2016) identified simple strategies, such as personal communication, continuous interaction, and campus visits increase the chances a recruit will choose one organization over another because it is difficult to say no once a personal relationship has developed. Organizational recruiters can increase their odds of success by developing relationships with instructors and getting in front of recruits early (Richardson & Gabbin, 2016).

Schools and businesses can mutually benefit each other with appropriate collaboration. Many people assume the relationship forms more like a supplier-consumer relationship (Stroud & Hopkins, 2016). While this may be the case in the beginning, the relationship can grow over time to where both parties involved benefit equally. Open communication both directions allows the relationship to flourish (Stroud & Hopkins, 2016).

Benos and Karagiannis (2016) suggested investment in higher education in one area affects areas that border the location where the education occurs. Benos and Karagiannis recommended governments take the lead on education investment. However, business organizations that take the lead are likely to reap the benefits because of goodwill from the community. The organization invests in the well-being and standard of living of the community, and in return, the community members will support the organization.

Vocational. Vocational schools provide a valuable resource to employers of skillbased employees by preparing students for specific work tasks (Hasanefendic, Heitor, & Horta, 2016). Business-school relationships create mutual benefits for the students and business organizations as well. The business organizations gain value from having employees who have already gained experience in a given field before truly entering into the workforce, while the students gain life skills and have the opportunity to test out different vocations to see if it is something they truly enjoy (Lee, Hope, & Abdulghani, 2016).

A close collaborative relationship between the vocational school and the business organization supports both parties involved. The vocational school becomes relevant to the student while the business organization potentially receives qualified candidates. Both parties must collaborate closely to create an effective relationship (Flynn et al., 2016). As an industry changes, the educational process must evolve as well. A business can affect curriculum changes by aligning with a trade school. Businesses gain a recruiting advantage by aligning with a trade school that can help guide prospective employees with the appropriate skill sets toward the sponsoring business.

Nonvocational. Many leaders still lack identified methods to fill nonvocational positions. The skillsets required by each organization will vary depending on the type of industry the company operates within. However, one common theme among many current organizations is the need to diversify and expand globally. Leaders who expand into new markets may help a company capitalize on unused manufacturing capabilities or to reach new untouched customer segments (Dyer, Godfrey, Jensen, & Bryce, 2016). An organization must have a workforce that has the talent and knowledge required to expand. Too many similar thinking employees in the same organization may not have the necessary prerequisites to facilitate expansion. Globalization requires that organizational leaders promote cultural sensitivity because not all customers and employees have the same wants and needs (Northouse, 2016).

Organizations that broadcast diversity attract more qualified employees from both

the perceived majority and minority (Ali, 2016). Even candidates from the majority demographic will perceive the company has better market performance and is a more equitable work environment. While traditional diversity may help in some instances, companies listed as having the best diversity programs do not automatically perform better financially (Filbeck, Foster, Preece, & Zhao, 2017). With nonvocational positions, organizations need to find a recruiting method that allows them to attract the talent they need to maintain a competitive advantage.

Temporary agencies. Temporary employment agencies represent another resource for organizations to obtain access to potential employees. Many workers utilize temporary placement agencies as a way to try new fields of interest or to fill gaps between jobs, while end-user organizations use the placement agency to screen and train employees that potentially fit the required role (Zeitz, Blau, & Fertig, 2009). Managers of temporary placement agencies rely heavily on their *bring a friend* initiatives for maintaining a steady flow of workers for placement into other organizations (Gonzalez & Rivares, 2018). Temporary agencies provide a potential hiring model for other organizations through their use of referral recruiting.

Referral Recruiting

Word-of-mouth or referral recruiting refers to any method of verbal recruiting that involves direct communication between two individuals. In a study by Gonzalez and Rivares (2018), the researchers noted employee referral programs aided in job satisfaction and retention because current employees are likely to recommend people who they feel fit the job. In addition, strong social support aided in job satisfaction of the new employee. M. Brown, Setren, and Topa (2016) also noted better employee-firm match from referral hiring resulted in longer tenure and persistence. Employee referral recruiting provides various benefits to the organization.

Recruiting cost. Employee referrals provide a cost-effective method to hire new employees. Organizations may or may not have formal employee referral programs in which they may or may not offer incentives for qualified referrals when they hire the referred candidate, and that person stays employed for a predetermined amount of time. Rafaeli et al. (2005) noted the organization in their study hired 13.27% of referred candidates at no cost because no incentive program existed for employee referrals. Even those organizations that offer a referral bonus may fair better than organizations that utilize traditional recruiting methods.

Pieper et al. (2018) found a referral bonus of \$3,500 prompted little more referrals than a \$1,500 referral bonus. Using Rafaeli et al. (2005) cost of traditional recruiting methods of \$22,652, offering a referral bonus of \$1,500 still yields a more cost-effective solution to organizations. However, offering a referral bonus may decrease organizational attractiveness for the referred employee as they may feel like a financial incentive for the referrer (Stockman, Van Hoye, & Carpentier, 2017). Managers of organizations should find the best mix of referral incentives that fit their needs and the needs of their employees to increase referrals.

Performance. Referred workers stay longer, perform better across some metrics, and produce higher profits per worker (Burks et al., 2015). However, Pieper (2015) found that in instances when the referrer leaves the organization, the referral also

37

becomes more likely to leave voluntarily. Organizations that rely heavily on referrals would have to monitor employee satisfaction of the tenured employees to prevent a mass exodus of employees.

Burks et al. (2015) showed that referred employee truck drivers tended to perform similarly to the employee that referred them, including the potential for accidents. Ekinci (2016) noted employees later in their careers or who are close to a promotion would likely bring the best referrals to the organizations because they have no competing interests with new employees. Trucking organizations could potentially screen referral candidates based on the employee who submitted the referral.

Increasing referrals. In addition to understanding the benefits of referral recruiting, organizations must understand how to increase the likelihood of gaining referrals from their employees. Increasing affective commitment from employees increases the likelihood of gaining employee referrals (Bloemer, 2010). Galletta et al. (2019) identified affective commitment as a positive job attitude where the employee feels an attachment or connection with the organization.

Bloemer (2010) found organizations could increase affective commitment though getting employees involved with appropriate decision making for their position and sharing knowledge about the future direction and vision of the organization. Organizational leaders might easily increase employee commitment through small gestures. Organizational managers can also create a semi-anonymous referral environment in as far as the hiring manager is concerned, to create a sense of *fair play* as to the influence of the position of the referrer (Derfler-Rozin, Baker, & Gino, 2018). Employees may feel threatened by candidates referred by higher positioned staff, or they may not feel their own referrals are taken seriously. The semi-anonymous referral levels the field, so an employee feels their candidate has an equal chance.

Transition

The high truck driver turnover rate of 89% in 2018, combined with a shortage of truck drivers in the United States has put many organizations in a tough spot. Transportation organizations can use referral recruiting as a cost-effective solution compared to the more traditional methods of posting advertisements in newspapers or digital methods in which the organization must still go out and search for applicants. Productive employees will likely refer other productive candidates to the firm.

Grounded in Herzberg's two-factor theory, the purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The targeted population consisted of archival employee survey data from licensed Class A truck drivers from a transportation organization headquartered in Illinois. Transportation organization leaders may use the potential insight obtained from this study to build strategies to effectively increase driver referrals, resulting in better productivity, reduced recruiting costs, and increased profits.

Section 1 contained the foundation sub-sections of the study, including the (a) problem and purpose statements, (b) nature of the study, (c) research question, (d) hypothesis, (e) theoretical framework, (f) operational definitions, (g) assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, (h) significance of the study, and finally (i) review of

academic literature. I discussed the general business problem and the specific business problem in the problem statement, and then included information about the research method and design in the purpose statement. The literature review contained an in-depth analysis of the theoretical framework and the constructs, compensation, benefits, and intrinsic factors, followed by the various recruiting options available to organizations.

Section 2 includes in-depth details about (a) my role as the researcher, (b) the participants, (c) research methodology and design, (d) the population and sample, (e) ethical research, (f) the data collection instrument, collection technique, and analysis, and (g) the validity of the study. In Section 3, I present the findings of my study and then recommendations for action and further research. I discuss the potential applications of my findings to professional practice and the potential implications for social change. I close with my reflections as the researcher and provide a conclusion for the overall study.

Section 2: The Project

Section 1 contained the informational sections on the foundation of the study. Section 2 includes in-depth details about (a) my role as the researcher; (b) the participants; (c) research methodology and design; (d) the population and sample; (e) ethical research; (f) the data collection instrument, collection technique, and analysis; and (g) the validity of the study. In Section 1, I detailed the *why* for this study; in Section 2, I focus on the *how*.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The independent variables were compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators. The dependent variable was potential referral candidates. The targeted population consisted of licensed Class A drivers in Illinois. The implications for positive social change could include equipping business leaders with information on motivational factors for recruiting drivers through referrals, thereby increasing community employment levels.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher included collecting and analyzing the archival data, evaluating the hypotheses, and answering the research question. Leichsenring et al. (2017) concluded researchers must take all available precautions when collecting and analyzing the data to avoid introducing their own biases into the research. I collected my data through already archived sources to ensure I did not introduce my own biases into the research. I also entered the data with no changes in the SPSS program and ran the appropriate analysis. As it relates to this study, I had no previous experience in any field related to the research topic that could potentially bias my findings. I did not know the participants who completed the archived survey, and the organization anonymized the data.

A congressional commission charged with reviewing the use of human test subjects in scientific research authored *The Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). *The Belmont Report* contains three tenets that pertain to the treatment of research participants and provides guidelines on ethical research for researchers and institutional review boards (IRBs) as opposed to a set of laws that must be strictly adhered to (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The three tenets include (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Adashi, Walters, & Menikoff, 2018).

Respect for persons means acknowledging a person has the right to make decisions about participation in a study without coercion (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). In the collection of the archived source, the organization had an obligation to ensure the participants had accurate and complete information about the benefits and risks of participating in a study. The participants who completed the survey did so of their own free will knowing the organization intended to analyze the data to create a better environment for the employees.

Beneficence means ensuring the researcher will not unnecessarily harm the participant (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The Walden

University IRB and I had to determine if the benefits outweighed the risks in the study. The survey data was anonymized, which presented no risk of harm to the participants.

Justice means ensuring the burden of who participates in research study balances out with who benefits from the research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). No one group should disproportionately bear the burden of participating in research if all groups benefit from that research. The participants of the study could potentially gain directly from this study if the research showed a significant relationship among the variables; the organization may likely implement policies to improve the quality of work-life for the employees. In addition, the findings of the study may prompt other organizations to implement changes.

New potential ethical challenges emerge, such as the risk to beneficence as technology continues to advance (Miracle, 2016). Researchers present modern data in the form of electronic files, which are more susceptible to breaches (Friesen, Kearns, Redman, & Caplan, 2017; Miracle, 2016). My data in this study came with no identifying information for the survey participants. Data sharing when the data have no identifying information does not usually pose much of a risk of harm to the participant (Ross, Iguchi, & Panicker, 2018). In addition, I will store the data on a thumb drive in my personal safe for a period of 5 years.

Participants

I examined archival data from the company's 2018 employee pulse survey. Therefore, I did not have direct interactions with the participants. I included eligible responses from the respondents of the survey. The company opened its survey to all employees. However, the company only provided me with the data that included the responses from licensed Class A truck drivers. The company did not require participation in the survey as a requirement for continued employment, so each participant participated of their own choosing. The company uses equal opportunity hiring practices and employs all races, genders, and legal ages in their driver pool; however, I did not receive any demographic data for the participants. The eligibility criteria for this study included participants who possessed a Class A driver's license and worked full time for the Illinois organization.

To gain a commitment to access the data, I contacted the company's director of diversity and inclusion, who was the data guardian to the survey data. The data guardian protects the interests of the participants (Brannan et al., 2016). The director agreed to me having access to the data with assurances the company's real name be excluded from the study. No additional stipulations applied.

The researcher must ensure the data applies to the research question and the measurements are valid when working with secondary data (Ellram & Tate, 2016). To ensure validity, I carefully read each question and compared it to current literature, my research question, and variables. Also, I ensured the data used an appropriate level of measure for scientific research.

My partner organization already collected survey data, which reduced the challenge of me gaining access to and building a relationship with the participants. Utilizing secondary data provides a wide range of already available information (Prada-Ramallal, Roque, Herdeiro, Takkouche, & Figueiras, 2018) and allows researchers to gain additional insights through a different approach to analysis of the data (Sun & Lipsitz, 2018). Using archival data helped me to avoid the challenge of collecting data from a difficult to reach occupation. Truck drivers spend a lot of time on the road away from home (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a), and gaining complete surveys on my own posed a significant challenge.

Research Method and Design

Regardless of the method and design used in a study, the overall use of different research methods has helped researchers to answer the questions of various phenomena for centuries (Cerniglia, Fabozzi, & Kolm, 2016). The conclusions a researcher reaches reflects the quality of the data collected; good data reflect good conclusions (Cerniglia et al., 2016). Regardless of the method used, researchers aim to ensure the study applies to a broader audience than just the participants (Morgan, 2018; Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). Researchers could consider picking the method and design for the strengths it provides and not because they consider another method weak (Morgan, 2018). A study that fits within a laboratory or within one specific organization is of little use to anyone else. I selected the research method and design to answer my research question effectively.

Research Method

Researchers choose between quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods when conducting research (Saunders et al., 2016). Researchers use the quantitative method when testing the relationship between two or more variables by using numerical data (Saunders et al., 2016). Empirical data allow researchers to use the past performance of a phenomenon to build a model to try to predict future performance (Cerniglia et al., 2016). I used the quantitative method because I was looking to see if a relationship existed among the variables: compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral recruiting in transportation organizations.

Researchers traditionally use qualitative research to further discovery (Park & Park, 2016) by relying on the perceptions and lived experiences of the participant (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). The data from a qualitative study consist of words, text, images, and video portrayed as themes rather than numerical data (Bansal, Smith, & Vaara, 2018). I did not select the qualitative method because I isolated individual numerical variables to determine the presence of correlation rather than looking at the phenomenon.

The mixed-methods study is a mixture of both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Saunders et al., 2016). In a mixed-methods study, either the qualitative or the quantitative portion can occur first, and either method can take precedence, or they can maintain equality in priority (Thiele, Pope, Singleton, & Stanistreet, 2018). I did not select the mixed methods because using mixed methods would require both a quantitative and qualitative component, and I did not have a qualitative component in this study because I did not rely on the perceptions and lived experiences of the participants.

Research Design

Within the quantitative method exist three overarching designs: experimental, quasi-experimental, and nonexperimental (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). In both the experimental and quasi-experimental designs, the researchers incorporate a control or

intervention to try to establish a cause and effect relationship. In the nonexperimental design, researchers look at past events or the participant's recollection to determine if a relationship between variables exists (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). Researchers choose experimental and quasi-experimental designs over nonexperimental designs to increase internal validity (Podsakoff & Podsakoff, 2019). Two criteria must occur for a study to qualify as experimental: manipulation of the independent variable and random assignment of groups (Podsakoff & Podsakoff, 2019).

Researchers classify studies as quasi-experimental when (a) the independent variable receives manipulation, (b) there is no random assignment to groups, and (c) a control group or multiple measurements exist for the same group (Podsakoff & Podsakoff, 2019). The experimental and quasi-experimental designs were not suitable for my study because I did not have a manipulation component to my study, nor did I have randomly assigned groups, control groups, or multiple measurements of the same group.

Nonexperimental designs may have different results from experimental or quasiexperimental designs, such as in Gorenca and Kuro (2018), when the researchers had a 6% difference between a quasi-experimental design and a nonexperimental design while testing the same variable. However, nonexperimental designs are appropriate when the data are historical (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018) or the researcher cannot manipulate the independent variable (Podsakoff & Podsakoff, 2019). I chose the nonexperimental design because I used secondary data with which I could not manipulate the variable.

Within the nonexperimental category, I considered the correlational and causal-

comparative designs. The correlational design is appropriate when examining multiple variables in one population (Curtis, Comiskey, & Dempsey, 2016) when the researcher has no influence over the variables and is not looking to make an inference as to cause and effect (Lappe, 2000). Researchers use a correlational design when they cannot control or manipulate the variables; however, the researcher must still choose appropriate variables to ensure the research question gets answered (Curtis et al., 2016). The correlational design was appropriate for this study because I intended to look at the relationship between multiple variables in a single population.

The causal-comparative design is appropriate when comparing the means of the dependent variable of two or more mutually exclusive groups, when the independent variables are categorical and not experimentally manipulated (Schenker & Rumrill, 2004). As with the correlational design, the causal-comparative design does not demonstrate causation (Brewer & Kuhn, 2010; Reio, 2016). I did not choose the causal-comparative design because I did not intend to compare the means of two groups.

Population and Sampling

The target population consisted of licensed Class A truck drivers from a large transportation company in the state of Illinois. The population aligned with the overarching research question because all the survey data came from drivers already employed at the organization. According to the U.S. Department of Labor, the state of Illinois employed 70,920 heavy truck drivers in 2017 (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a). At the time of the survey in 2018, the organization employed over 1,400 drivers. Every driver in the organization had an equal opportunity to complete

the survey. More than 500 drivers completed the survey.

Researchers use sampling as a way to test a portion of the population so the results can be generalized across the entire population (Wilson, 2014). A lack of proper sampling procedures may limit the generalizability of a study (Sykes, Verma, & Hancock, 2018). Sampling methods include probabilistic and nonprobabilistic sampling (Setia, 2016). For my study, I used probabilistic sampling. The probabilistic sampling method allows everyone in the population an equal opportunity to participate in the study (El-Masri, 2017b).

Probabilistic sampling allows for a greater chance at generalizability across the entire population (Wilson, 2014). Probabilistic sampling occurs in one of five ways (a) simple random, in which every person in the population has an equal chance for selection, (b) stratified random, in which the overall population is split into stratum based on unique characteristics, and then samples are pulled from each stratum, (c) systematic random in which the researcher picks a starting point and counts a repeating interval from the start point, (d) cluster random in which the researcher picks participants from multiple larger groups, typically geographical, and (e) multi-stage which may consist of various of the previous methods combined (Setia, 2016). In the survey I used, the host company invited every person in the population to complete the survey. Therefore, every person in the population frame had an equal 100% chance to participate.

The number of survey responses fell within a manageable level, so no data needed trimmed. However, if I needed to trim the data, I could have used the simple random method to select my data using a computer randomization program. One disadvantage of probabilistic sampling occurs within simple random sampling when the randomization unintentionally excludes a specific group within the population (Setia, 2016). In my study, the survey data came with no demographic data, so I did not know if one group was under-represented.

Nonrandom sampling may increase bias and reduce validity in a study (Sykes et al., 2018). Nonprobability sampling includes five methods of selection (a) accidental or convenience, in which the researcher picks participants based on who is available at the time, (b) quota, in which the research uses accidental methods but ensures the sample population includes the different diversity included in the overall population, (c) snowball, in which the researcher uses participants to find more participants, (d) purposive, in which the researcher uses their own knowledge of the population to select appropriate candidates based on the research aims, and (e) self-selected, in which the participants select themselves for the study, such as a call for volunteers (Wilson, 2014). The researcher can never fully eliminate selection bias when using nonprobability sampling, but he/she can take steps to reduce the effects by ensuring the selected sample population closely resembles the overall population (El-Masri, 2017a).

I needed to ensure I had an adequate sample size to support the generalizability of my study. Tabachnick and Fidell (2007) presented a formula to calculate an appropriate sample size, which says to take 50 plus 8 times the number of independent variables. I had three independent variables, so using Tabachnick and Fidell's formula; I needed a minimum of 74 participants for my study. Another method of determining sample size involves the use of G*Power software (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). To use

G*Power to determine the sample size I assumed a medium effect size (f =.15), a = .05, and three predictor variables, which identified I needed a minimum sample size of 77 surveys to achieve a power of .80. Researchers increase sample size as a way to increase the power of the study (Meyvis & Van Osselaer, 2018). Increasing my sample size to 161 surveys increased my power to .99 as depicted in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Power as a function of sample size.

Ethical Research

All researchers have a responsibility to maintain the highest ethical standards in their research regardless of method, design, and data type (Lobzhanidze, Chikhladze, Pitskhelauri, & Tsiskaridze, 2016). The researcher has a primary responsibility to protect the participants' personal information and do no harm (Friesen et al., 2017). The informed consent process involves the researcher allowing capable people or people's representatives the right to decide if they will participate in a research study while having all the known facts, benefits, and risks (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979).

I did not have any contact with the participants, and the data did not have any identifying information included. The partner organization did not provide any incentives or coercion for their employees to participate in the survey and I did not provided any incentive to the partner organization to provide me with use of their archival data. I received a consent letter from the participating organization.

The partner organization could withdraw their consent letter at any time should they deem it necessary. I still had an obligation to protect the identity of the organization by not including any information that may allow someone to determine the identity of the participating organization. To protect the name of the partner organization, I always referred to it as the company or the organization. To protect the data sets, I will store the data on a thumb drive in my personal safe for a period of 5 years, at which time the data will be destroyed. My IRB approval number was 08-01-19-0723569

Data Collection Instruments

The data originated from the partner company's 2018 Pulse employee satisfaction survey. Historically, the partner company conducted the employee satisfaction survey every two years. For the survey data of this study, I used the smaller 2018 Pulse Survey because it included the most current data that still included the questions that were relevant to compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates. The organization changed vendors in 2018 and decided to conduct a survey every year thereafter. The vendor company that collected the data was a consultant that conducted employee surveys throughout the United States with a proven track record and a deep customer base for which to provide comparison data.

The pulse survey contained more questions than what I requested access to. Schaufeli et al. (2006) took their original survey from 24 questions down to seven, creating the UWES-9, to increase the reliability of the instrument. Measuring the appropriate variables is more important than the number of questions. For the purpose of my study, the data consisted of only six questions (Appendix A) that directly related to the independent variables of compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators and dependent variable potential referral candidates.

Scales of Measurement

The format of the survey contained a Likert-type scale. Likert scales range from as low as 3 measures and up (Wu & Leung, 2017), with the most commonly used scales of 5 and 7 (Martin, Roman, & Gonzaga, 2018). Leung (2011) noted no significant differences in standard deviation, mean, correlation, or reliability when using the different Likert scales of 4, 5, 6, and 11. The participants of my study answered the questions on a 6-point Likert-type scale that ranged from 1 to 6, where 1 was *strongly disagree*, and 6 was *strongly agree*.

Reverse coding data has positive and negative attributes associated with it. Some researchers believe reverse coding helps to eliminate response bias from the participants by asking similar questions in the reverse manner (Weijters, Geuens, & Schillewaert, 2009). However, reverse coding can also have adverse effects on the study results.

Suarez-Alvarez et al. (2018) noted four adverse effects: (a) different respondents will have different cognitive abilities, (b) combining reverse and regular items will

reduce respondents variability in their answers, (c) combined items reduce the tests psychometric properties, and (d) reverse items produce statistically different scores from standard items. No questions from the secondary data I used were reverse coded. The partner company kept the online employee satisfaction survey straight forward given the different cultural and educational background of all the employees.

Employee perception of compensation. The first independent variable of my study, compensation (extrinsic), was a nominal scale of measurement. Question 1571024 (Appendix A) comprised the question for this variable. A 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree, was used to calculate a total score.

Employee perception of benefits. The second independent variable of my study, employee perceptions of benefits (extrinsic), was a nominal scale of measurement. Question 1571024 (Appendix A) comprised the question for this variable. A 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree, was used to calculate a total score.

Employee perceptions of intrinsic motivational factors. The third independent variable of my study, intrinsic motivational factors (intrinsic), was a nominal scale of measurement. Questions 1571031 and 1571032 (Appendix A) comprised the questions for this variable. A 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree, was used to calculate question scores. A total score was derived by summing the answers to the questions.

Potential referral candidates. The dependent variable of my study, potential referral candidates, was a nominal scale of measurement. Questions 1571033 and 1571035 (Appendix A) comprised the questions for this variable. A 6-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree, was used to calculate question scores. A total score was derived by summing the answers to the questions.

Strategies to Address Reliability and Validity

The establishment of external validity in my study involved the inclusion of all complete participant data in the population from which the partner organization provided. I conducted a power analysis using G*Power Version 3.19 to help determine the appropriate minimum sample size. To ensure reliability, I identified any incomplete data points and removed them so as to not skew any of the variables.

Researchers must be cautious when using archival data. A data set may not appropriately depict a given construct essential to the research initiative (Barnes et al., 2015). Careful selection of a variable may allow the researcher to effectively align the study with the available data (Barnes et al., 2015). A researcher may benchmark single questions across different surveys (Hartebrodt & Chtioui, 2016). Marks, AL-Ali, Majdalawieh, and Bani-Hani (2017) noted higher educational institutions commonly benchmark questions across various satisfaction surveys. I compared the UWES-9 and the Job Satisfaction Survey (JSS), both recognized measurement instruments, as benchmark surveys because they contained identical questions to my independent variable questions.

Data Collection Technique

I used archival data to try and answer the research question of; what is the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates? Some research methods include the use of archival data and online surveys (Park & Park, 2016). Some researchers struggle to collect adequate data for their research projects (Cotteleer & Wan, 2016). In recent years, many companies have collected large amounts of data that can provide researchers with opportunities for studies (Barnes et al., 2015; Cotteleer & Wan, 2016). Researchers can save time and money through the use of archival data (Ellram & Tate, 2016) and online surveys (Minnaar & Heystek, 2013).

I contacted my partner organization to gain permission to access their archival data. The data contained responses from an online survey the company issued as part of their annual employee satisfaction survey. Online surveys include both advantages and disadvantages to the researcher. Researchers will use online surveys to collect data on vast or hard to reach participants in a more time-efficient and cost-effective way (Cotteleer & Wan, 2016).

The disadvantage of online survey stems from low response rates commonly as a result of (a) a lack of prior notification, (b) incorrect email addresses, and (c) spam filters or the perception of spam (Cotteleer & Wan, 2016). The partner organization issues several notices before the distribution of the survey. The survey coming from an internally approved vendor organization negates the prospect of invalid email addresses and spam filters from preventing potential participants from completing the survey.

Data Analysis

I analyzed the data in this study to answer the following research question and to test the hypotheses:

RQ: What is the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates?

 H_0): There is no significant relationship among compensation, benefits,

intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

 H_1): There is a significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates.

Multiple Linear Regression

Researchers use multiple linear regression to analyze data from experimental and nonexperimental studies when the data include more than one independent variable (Green & Salkind, 2017). One of the primary uses for multiple linear regression involves using it to predict the dependent variable based on the input from the independent or predictor variables (Nimon & Oswald, 2013). Social researchers commonly use multiple linear regression to build predictive models (Alhamide, Ibrahim, & Alodat, 2016). Multiple linear regression contains R, R², and an adjusted R² which a researcher can use to evaluate how well the independent variables predict the outcome of the dependent variable (Green & Salkind, 2017).

Bellamy, Wang, McGee, Liu, and Robinson (2019) used multiple linear regression to determine which independent variables predicted their dependent variable in a study about stress, training, and job satisfaction. However, using multiple linear regression to rate the importance of each predictor variable within a model poses more of a challenge (Nimon & Oswald, 2013). For the purposes of my study, I was interested in looking at the strength of the correlation between the independent and dependent variables, and not the importance of each predictor within the model. In addition, satisfaction with pay, benefits, intrinsic satisfaction, and the likelihood that an employee will recommend someone for employment were all variables measured on an interval scale and therefore made multiple linear regression an appropriate analytical tool for this study.

Other Analytical Models

I had to choose an appropriate analysis model from many possibilities. Each model I considered did not fit my study for one reason or another. My goal was to look at the correlation between the independent and dependent variables. Researchers can use linear regression to look at the relationship between the predictor and criterion variables in both experimental and nonexperimental studies (Green & Salkind, 2017). One method is bivariate linear regression. In bivariate linear regression, the researcher only includes one independent and one dependent variable (Green & Salkind, 2017). I had three independent variables in my study and therefore I needed to use a model that allowed for multiple independent variables.

I considered binary logistic regression as a potential analysis model. Binary logistic regression can predict outcomes of the dependent variable for multiple independent variables (Schlechter, Syce, & Bussin, 2016). To use binary logistic regression, the dependent variable must have only two potential outcomes (Eekhout, van de Wiel, & Heymans, 2017), such as yes and no or high and low. Binary logistic regression was not appropriate for my study because my dependent variable contained an interval variable that did not fit within the binary logistic regression test.

Data Cleaning

Data cleaning involves ensuring the data included in the study provide appropriate information (Dai et al., 2018; Vivek, Beatty, Dalela, & Morgan, 2014). Incomplete data may adversely affect the quality of a study (Mahanta, Choudhury, & Dey, 2018). Researchers often have to contend with the issue of missing data (Dai et al., 2018; Mahanta et al., 2018). One way researchers deal with missing data involves estimating new data for the missing points; however, not all data can be recovered in this manner (Dai et al., 2018).

Researchers can also remove entire response sets of incomplete data, such as Vivek et al. (2014) study, in which the researches removed incomplete online surveys prior to their analysis. I structured my study to examine the relationship between the independent and dependent variables rather than just counting overall responses. Therefore, I needed complete data sets from each participant to achieve my desired results. To account for missing data, I did not include any entries in which the participant failed to complete the entire survey. I received my archival data set in an MS Excel format, so I filtered out any blank cells using Excel's data filtering features.

Assumptions

Researchers must meet certain assumptions for each statistical test performed in research (Owen, 2018). Researchers reporting the status of the assumptions allows
readers to evaluate the usefulness of the results for their needs (Hickey et al., 2019). Several assumptions underlie the multiple linear regression model which include (a) linearity of the residuals rather than other fits such as quadratic or exponential, (b) homoscedasticity or that each predictor variable contributes equally to the noise in the data, (c) independence of the errors or that the same errors are not repeated, (d) normality in the distribution of the errors, (e) multicollinearity in that more than two independent variables do not appear to have excessive linearity, and (f) extreme outliers do not create undue influence on the remaining points (Hickey et al., 2019).

Researchers could use a nonparametric test to evaluate data when a violation of the parametric assumptions occurs (Nahm, 2016; Vetter, 2017). Nonparametric tests do not require normal distribution assumptions (Vetter, 2017). However, nonparametric tests contain less statistical power than parametric tests, especially in smaller sample sizes (Nahm, 2016).

Researchers could use bootstrapping to estimate additional data points when the sample does not meet the assumptions of the statistical test (Font, 2016; Shurden, Santandreu, & Shurden, 2016). Researchers can also use bootstrapping to address violations of the assumptions. I ran a normal distribution test in SPSS, to determine if the assumptions of my study had been violated. I added bootstrapping to the data to minimize effects for violations of the assumptions.

Inferential Results

Researchers use descriptive and inferential statistics to analyze and report their studies. Researchers test hypotheses and show relationships between the data and the

research question using inferential statistics, which include tests such as the ANOVA and T-test (Zhang, Zhao, & Wang, 2016). Researchers summarize data using descriptive measures such as the *mean, median, mode*, and *standard deviations* (George, Chiba, & Scheepers, 2017; Kaliyadan & Kulkarni, 2019). Researchers use scatter plots to show visual representations of the data, which will show outlying data points (Oro, Neto, Mafioleti, Garcia, & Neumann, 2016).

I used the Statistical Packages for Social Science (SPSS), version 24.0, to conduct a multiple linear regression analysis. I transferred the existing Excel data directly into SPSS. Researchers use SPSS broadly across the social sciences to analyze data (Jin & Qi, 2018). Researchers can use SPSS to process both descriptive and inferential statistics, as demonstrated in Akyol and Demir's (2019) study. Researchers can also use SPSS to run reliability checks on the questions within their surveys (Jin & Qi, 2018). SPSS was an appropriate tool for my study because I was able to (a) easily transfer the data using the copy/paste feature from excel to SPSS, (b) conduct a multiple linear regression test in SPSS, and (c) check the reliability of my data using SPSS's normal distribution test.

Study Validity

The two types of validity I addressed were internal and external. Internal validity refers to the scientific rigor of the study, while external validity refers to the ability to apply the findings from the sample population to the general population (Pound & Ritskes-Hoitinga, 2018). Scholars must ensure reliability and validity when conducting their research. Reliability in research refers to the concept that data collection technique

and instrument will deliver consistent results each time they are used (Saunders et al., 2016). Scholars achieve validity when they can effectively measure the intended concept with the chosen instrument (Saunders et al., 2016), and then demonstrate the generalizability of the construct (Yin, 2018). In the end, I had to ensure my findings aligned with the method and design chosen.

Internal Validity

I conducted a quantitative nonexperimental correlational study. Threats to internal validity do not exist in correlational studies. Rather, correlational studies include threats to statistical conclusion validity in the form of three factors (a) reliability of the instrument, (b) violations of the assumptions, and (c) inappropriate sample size (Garcia-Perez, 2012). Violations of the three factors may result in inflated Type I and Type II errors, which could render the results of the study invalid (Koziol & Bovaird, 2018). Statistical conclusion reliability refers to researchers' ability to make inferences about the variables in a study (Bainbridge, Sanders, Cogin, & Lin, 2017).

Reliability of the instrument. The reliability of the instrument helps determine study validity. Even though a previous study may have successfully used a specific instrument, this does not mean the same instrument fits a different study (Crutzen & Peters, 2017). Stephanie and Gustomo (2015) used the same vendor organization for survey data. However, Stephanie and Gustomo measured employee engagement, utilized a 5-point Likert-type scale, and did not include their SPSS reliability statistics in the published paper. Researchers in social sciences regularly use Cronbach's alpha to assess the reliability of an instrument in their study (Crutzen & Peters, 2017; Vaske, Beaman, & Sponarski, 2017). Cronbach's alpha ranges from a low of zero to a high of 1.00, where a higher number represents more reliability and a score between .65 and .80 would suffice as acceptable (Vaske et al., 2017). However, researchers do not necessarily agree on a proper scale. Crutzen and Peters (2017) set the scale where scores of \geq .50 are poor, \geq .60 are questionable, \geq .70 are acceptable, \geq .80 are good, and \geq .90 are excellent. I ran Cronbach's alpha using SPSS on the data from my study to assess the reliability of my survey instrument. According to the more stringent scale, I looked for a score between .70-.90 for compliance. The SPSS software gives an analysis of which questions, if removed, would increase the Cronbach's alpha to an acceptable level.

Assumptions. The proper use of statistical tests relies on meeting certain assumptions within the data sample. Nonparametric tests contain few assumptions (Trajkovski, 2016; Vetter, 2017), and are less desirable to researchers because they contain less statistical power (Nahm, 2016; Trajkovski, 2016). Several common assumptions for parametric statistical tests include (a) the errors are normally distributed, (b) homogeneity of the variance or that each variable contributes equally, (c) the data are fitted linearly rather than other fits such as quadratic, (d) independence in that the same errors do not continue to occur, (e) more than two independent variables do not have excessive linearity or multicollinearity, and (f) extreme outliers do not overly influence the results (Hickey et al., 2019; Kozak & Piepho, 2018; Owen, 2018). I intended to use a parametric test and I so had to meet the aforementioned assumptions. I ran a normal distribution test in SPSS, which returned a P-P plot, scatter plot, and collinearity statistics to provide me with lens to view violations of the assumptions. A normal P-P plot visually depicts linearity of the residuals (Parke, 2013). Researchers can determine homoscedasticity and extreme outliers by using scatter plots (Oro et al., 2016). Moreover, researchers can use the collinearity statistics that determine the degree of multicollinearity by using either the coefficients or the VIF (Parke, 2013). Sample size can affect whether the normality assumptions hold up to testing.

Sample size. Smaller sample sizes may adversely affect the normality assumption (Trajkovski, 2016). Researchers see a higher Type II error rate in addition to lower statistical power in studies with smaller sample sizes (Kozak & Piepho, 2018). Researchers can use a power analysis to determine a sample size that meets the researcher power goals without spending excessive time and money collecting more data than necessary (Green & MacLeod, 2016). To reduce potential violations to the normality assumption and to reduce the likelihood of a Type II error, I conducted a power analysis using Faul et al.'s (2009) G*Power Version 3.19 to help determine the appropriate sample size by assuming a medium effect size (f =0.15), a = 0.05, and three predictor variables, which identified I needed a minimum sample size of 77 surveys to achieve a power of .80 (see Figure 1). Therefore, to reduce the likelihood of Type II errors, I needed to obtain at least 77 usable samples.

External Validity

External validity in research indicates whether the conclusions drawn from the data apply to other areas. The ability to apply one set of findings to another circumstance acts as a critical factor in assessing the credibility of a particular study (Pound & Ritskes-Hoitinga, 2018). A key component for conducting research is adding to the body of existing knowledge. When scholars read a study, they assume the researcher followed recognized practices, and the same concepts should apply to the broader population (Nørreklit, Nørreklit, & Mitchell, 2016). Researchers rely on large population sizes to create valid generalizations (Nørreklit et al., 2016). However, regardless of the sample size researchers should use proper sampling methods to aid with external validity.

Kaplan, Chambers, Phil, and Glasgow (2014) noted several real-world examples from which researchers used large samples and predicted the wrong outcome and smaller sample sizes predicted the correct outcome because of the sampling method employed. When a researcher uses nonprobability sampling, he does not know all of the makeup of the sample and therefore cannot apply the findings to a specific population, whereas in probabilistic sampling the researcher knows the makeup of the sample population because he picked them based on specific attributes (Wilson, 2014). I addressed external validity in my study by using probabilistic sampling. Every driver in the host organization had an equal chance to complete the satisfaction survey. In addition, all the data I used for the study came from the targeted profession of licensed Class A truck drivers from the Illinois-based host organization and should therefore be generalizable to all licensed Class A truck drivers within the region.

Transition and Summary

Using appropriate techniques, practices, and measures enables investigators to ensure the reliability and validity of their study's results. The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. Section 2 included in-depth details about (a) my role as the researcher, (b) the participants, (c) research methodology and design, (d) the population and sample, (e) ethical research, (f) the data collection instrument, collection technique, and analysis, and (g) the validity of the study.

In Section 3, I present the findings of my study and then recommendations for action and further research. I also discuss the potential applications of my findings to professional practice as well as the potential implications for social change. I close with my reflections as the researcher and provide a conclusion for the overall study. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The independent variables were compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators, and the dependent variable was potential referral recruiting. I used a 6-question subset of a larger employee satisfaction survey. In evaluating the data from 581 Class A truck drivers, I used multiple linear regression to analyze the data.

Presentation of the Findings

In the presentation of the findings section, I discuss testing the assumptions, show descriptive and inferential statistics, provide a theoretical conversation about my findings, and then conclude with a summary. The model as a whole was able to significantly predict potential referral candidates, F(3,562) = 258.323, p < .001, $R^2 = .580$. I rejected the null hypothesis and accepted the alternate; a relationship does exist among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. I employed multiple linear regression with a sample of 581 licensed Class A truck drivers to address the potential relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates in transportation organizations. The confidence interval was 95%. The significance level was 5% throughout this research.

Descriptive Results

The vendor organization ran the survey through June and July of 2018, via an online survey for the partner transportation organization based in Illinois. The partner organization leaders provided only surveys from licensed Class A truck drivers for this study. The number of survey lines totaled 581. I discarded 15 surveys because of incomplete data, which resulted in a total of 566 surveys for analysis, which I transferred from the Excel spreadsheet into SPSS.

Table 2 contains the descriptive statistics for this study, specifically the means and standard deviations. The independent study variables included compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators. The dependent variable was potential referral recruiting. Based on a 6-point Likert-type scale, the mean score for satisfaction with compensation was 4.91, indicating most participants showed a high level of satisfaction with their compensation. The score for satisfaction with benefits was also measured on a 6-point Likert-type scale, and the mean score was 4.94, also indicating most participants showed a high level of satisfaction with their benefits. The score for intrinsic motivators was two items measured on a 6-point Likert-type scale and summed. The mean for intrinsic motivators was 9.22, indicating most participants showed a high level of intrinsic motivation. The dependent variable of potential referral recruiting was also two items measured on a 6-point Likert-type scale and summed. The mean for entrinsic motivation is 9.84, indicating more participants were likely to refer another person for employment than not.

Table 2

Variables	М	SD	Bootstrapped 95%	
			CI	(M)
Compensation	4.91	1.063	4.82	5.00
Benefits	4.94	1.151	4.84	5.04
Intrinsic motivation	9.22	2.335	9.02	9.41
Potential referral recruiting	9.83	2.404	9.62	10.04
NT . NT 566				

Descriptive Statistics for Study Variable

Note. N = 566

Reliability Analysis

The study included a single scale of the partner organization's employee satisfaction survey. The portion of the scale I used included six questions using a sixpoint Likert-type scale. A rating of 1 indicated *strongly disagree*, and a rating of 6 indicated *strongly agree*. No items required reverse coding.

To meet the reliability requirements, the instrument needed an adequate Cronbach's alpha coefficient for internal reliability. Researchers commonly use Cronbach's alpha to test for internal reliability and consistency and look for a score higher than .70 (Borah & Malakar, 2015). I was looking to achieve a Cronbach's alpha coefficient between .70 and .90 for this study. Using SPSS, I determined the instrument for this study resulted in a Cronbach's alpha of .790, well within the required range. The results listed in Table 3 show that the removal of any item would result in lower reliability of the instrument.

Scale	Num	ber of items	α if removed	
Compensation	1		787	
Benefits	1		.766	
Intrinsic motivation	2		.680	
Potential referral recruiting	2		.665	

Reliability Table for Compensation, Benefits, Intrinsic Motivation, and Potential Referral Recruiting

Note. N = 566

Test of Assumptions

Prior to running the regression testing for this study, I first tested for violations of the statistical assumptions. I included tests for extreme outliers, normality, linearity, observational independence, multicollinearity, independence of the residuals, and homoscedasticity. To mitigate any adverse effects from potential violations of the assumptions, I used bootstrapping with 1,000 samples. **Outliers.** Extreme outliers may skew the data by causing excessive influence on the rest of the data (Hickey et al., 2019). I evaluated the normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals (Figure 2), the frequency histogram of standardized residuals (Figure 3), and the scatterplot of standardized residuals and standardized predicted values (Figure 4) via a visual inspection. Researchers can use scatterplots to evaluate assumptions because scatterplots visually depict the data for easy assessment (Green & Salkind, 2017). A single outlier appears in the histogram and scatterplot, indicating a violation of the outliers assumption.



Figure 2. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals.



Figure 3. Frequency histogram of standardized residuals.



Figure 4. Scatterplot of standardized residuals and standardized predicted values.

Normality. I checked the normality of the data using the normal P-P probability plot (Figure 2) and frequency diagram (Figure 3) for the residuals of the dependent variable. Researchers should use the figures of the residuals rather than figures from the raw data (Kozak & Piepho (2018). In the case of the normal P-P plot, the data appeared to follow a generally straight line from the lower left to the upper right. Also, in the case of the histogram, the data appeared to have a standard bell curve. The inspection of both figures indicates no violation of the normality assumption.



Figure 5. Partial regression plot: Benefits and referral recruiting.

Partial Regression Plot



Figure 6. Partial regression plot: Intrinsic motivators and referral recruiting.



Figure 7. Partial regression plot: Compensation and referral recruiting.

Linearity. I checked the linearity for each of the independent variables prior to running multiple linear regression tests. I used a bivariate scatterplot to assess each independent variable (Figures 5, 6, & 7). Researchers use bivariate scatterplots to visually inspect linearity among variables (Green & Salkind, 2017). Upon visual inspection, each scatterplot appears to form a linear relationship with no indication of curvilinearity. I also included a fit line with each scatterplot as an added measure. The analysis indicates the data meets the assumption for linearity.

Independence of observations. Each observation should be unique and not duplicated. Violating the independence of observations, such as a single participant submitting more than one survey, could potentially invalidate the study results, but a careful data collection plan can alleviate any violations (Zientek, Nimon, & Hammack-Brown, 2016). The vendor organization that collected the survey data followed a technique to prevent duplication of a single survey participant. Each survey participant received a unique invitation link in their e-mail. Once used, the link became invalid and could not be used for a second time. Due to the sampling technique used, I met the assumption of observational independence.

Multicollinearity. I ran tests to detect multicollinearity. Researchers run multicollinearity tests to detect correlation among the independent variables (Farooq, 2016). Researchers use the variance inflation factor (VIF) as one method to detect multicollinearity (Salmeron, Garcia, & Garcia, 2018). When utilizing VIF, researchers consider values greater than 10 to have high collinearity (Salmerón Gómez, García Pérez, López Martín, & García, 2016). Upon running the statistical tests, I obtained VIF values of 1.618 (compensation), 1.464 (benefits), and 1.460 (intrinsic motivators), indicating this study meets the assumption of multicollinearity (Table 4).

Table 4

Collinearity Statistics

Variable	Tolerance	VIF	
Compensation	.683	1.464	
Benefits	.618	1.918	
Intrinsic motivation	.685	1.640	

Independence of residuals. I used the Durbin-Watson statistical test to check the assumption of independent residuals. Researchers use the Durbin-Watson test to test the noise in the residuals for independence (Bercu, Portier, & Vazquez, 2015). The Durbin-Watson test values range from 0 to 4 (Dutcă, Stăncioiu, Abrudan, & Ioraș, 2018), where values between 1 and 3 do not violate the assumptions (Hashim, Nawawi, & Salin, 2014). The data from this study resulted in a Durbin-Watson test score of 1.963, indicating the data meets the assumption of the independence of the residuals.

Homoscedasticity. I addressed the assumption of homoscedasticity by using a scatterplot of the standardized residuals and standardized predicted values (Figure 4). Researchers consider data homoscedastic when the points appear randomly distributed (Belas & Gabcova, 2016). A visual inspection of the scatterplot indicates a nonrandom appearance of patterns running from the upper left to lower right, with excessive points in the upper right and no points in the lower left. The data points formed because 198

participants (35.2%) had the highest possible score in potential referral recruiting, indicating they were very likely to refer their organization as a potential employer to others (at the time of data collection). Therefore, the data did not meet the assumption of homoscedasticity.

Summary of statistical assumptions. In summary, the data met the statistical assumptions of normality, linearity, independence of the observations, multicollinearity, and independence of the residuals. However, the data failed to meet the assumptions of outliers and homoscedasticity. Given the data did not meet all the assumptions, I choose to use bootstrapping of 1,000 samples at 95% confidence, as researchers can use bootstrapping to help reduce the likelihood of drawing incorrect conclusions from the data (de Crom & Rothmann, 2018), because bootstrapping uses the original data to produce new samples (Ahmad, Aleng, Ali, & Ibrahim, 2018). The research question for this study was, "what is the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates?" This research includes a null and alternate hypothesis stating that compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators do not and do (respectively) have a significant relationship with potential referral recruiting. I tested these hypotheses with multiple linear regression (Table 5).

Table 5

Regression Analysis for the Predictor Variables

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	р	Bootstrap 95%	
						confidence	
						LB	UB
Constant	.964	.353		2.730	.007	.193	1.749
Compensation	.523	.079	.231	6.647	.001	.327	.708
Benefits	.212	.069	.101	3.062	.002	.042	.386
Intrinsic motivation	.570	.034	.554	16.761	.001	.480	.662

Note. Full Model: F(3,562) = 258.323, p < .001, $R^2 = .580$

Regression Results

The purpose of this research was to examine the relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral recruiting. I used the multiple linear regression model in SPSS to examine the relationship among the variables. The model revealed intrinsic motivators ($\beta = .554$, p < .001) affected the dependent variable the most, followed by compensation ($\beta = .231$, p < .001), and benefits ($\beta = .101$, p < .002) (Table 5), while all three independent variables showed significance. The null hypothesis was rejected, and the alternate hypothesis was accepted, stating that "there is a significant relationship among compensation, benefits, intrinsic motivators, and potential referral candidates."

Summary of the Results

The gatekeeper from the partner organization provided me with a data set from their 2018 employee satisfaction survey, which included 566 complete surveys. The data set included questions about the employees' satisfaction with compensation and benefits, whether the employee felt motivated by the organization, and whether they would refer the organization as a potential employer to others seeking employment. The independent variables were compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivators, and the independent variable was potential referral recruiting. The results of the regression model, F(3,562) =258.323, p < .001, $R^2 = .580$, indicated a significant relationship between the independent and dependent variables (Table 5). While all three variables showed significance, intrinsic motivators had the largest effect.

My study closely reflects the two-factor theory of motivation. Herzberg et al. (2017) stated that extrinsic factors can demotivate the individual, while intrinsic factors will increase overall motivation. Satisfied employees will more likely refer others for employment than unsatisfied employees (Van Hoye, 2013). The measured extrinsic factors of benefits and compensation scores averaged above the midpoint on the scale, indicating that most employees found their benefits and compensation adequate and not demotivating. The results of the study demonstrated that the intrinsic factors contributed to the variance more than benefits and compensation combined.

My findings are supported by the findings of Van Hoye (2013), who found employers could increase referrals by increasing extrinsic and intrinsic motivation for current employees. In alignment with Van Hoye, the results of this study indicated extrinsic factors influence a person's decision to refer someone for employment less than intrinsic factors. Van Hoye noted that financial motivators paled in comparison to the desire to help the company succeed and the potential to increase one's own satisfaction. The findings from this study aligned with Tania (2016) and Kalhoro et al.'s (2017) findings that both intrinsic and extrinsic factors affect an employee's overall satisfaction, as evidenced through the participants' willingness to refer others to the partner organization. In line with my study, Tania (2016) noted that the participants in the 2016 study rated intrinsic factors more important than extrinsic factors such as compensation, while in my study the intrinsic motivation variable contributed more than the compensation and benefits variables. Kuvaas, Buch, Weibel, Dysvik, and Nerstad (2017) found a positive relationship between intrinsic motivators and positive outcomes. The results of my study demonstrated intrinsic motivators can drive the desired results of the organization.

Not all of this study's results were entirely consistent with the previous literature. Renaud et al. (2017) stated benefits contribute to employee motivation as much as compensation. The results from this study showed that while benefits still significantly contribute to the variance of the referral recruiting variable, benefits still affect the overall outcome much less than compensation and intrinsic motivators. Furthermore, Kuvaas et al. (2017) found a neutral or negative relationship between extrinsic motivators and positive outcomes; however, the results from my study still showed a positive relationship between the extrinsic and referral recruiting variables.

Applications to Professional Practice

The results from this study have direct implications to applied business. Truck driver turnover rates have remained consistently above 70% since 2011 (McNally, 2017), while experts predict the labor market will continue to tighten (Asci, 2017). Organizational leaders can potentially use the results of this study to create better compensation and benefits packages or manager-employee engagement practices to increase employee satisfaction, thereby increasing referral recruiting.

Organizational leaders could benefit in different ways from the practices recommended to increase employee referrals. Organizational leaders generally spend less money by utilizing referral recruiting over traditional methods (Rafaeli et al., 2005). The reduced spending on recruiting would positively affect the financial standing of the organization. As a secondary benefit, the overall increase in employee satisfaction could potentially reduce turnover and improve the bottom line by not losing productivity and reducing training costs. Leaders could potentially increase their reputation by using some of the savings to reinvest in employee and community programs. Organizational leaders might become the employer of choice within the transportations industry and increase brand recognition by increasing the reputation of the company through community outreach programs.

Implications for Social Change

Increasing driver availability in transportation could positively affect social change efforts. Employment provides a person with a means to maintain independence and personal dignity while feeling connected to others and the community (Serb, Cicioc, Paun, & Funieru, 2016). Employees of organizational leaders who focus on increasing different aspects of satisfaction may experience a better standard of living and refer other candidates. By gaining employment, the referral candidates' standards of living would increase.

If leaders focus on referral recruiting rather than traditional methods, the leaders could reinvest some of the capital savings back into employee programs for increasing wages or benefits. Organizational leaders could hire additional employees without a loss to profits, which would help put money into more workers' hands and potentially make additional goods available to the public. Better referral practices may increase employment levels, which can cause a positive trickle effect within the local economy. Employees may invest themselves in the organization through higher productivity or additional referral recruiting, which could potentially cause a positive snowball effect when the organizations reinvest in the employees.

Most goods in the United States travel at some point on semi-trucks, which licensed Class A drivers operate. Transportation costs directly affect the cost of goods (Azarhoushang, Bramucci, Herr, & Ruoff, 2015). Decreasing the cost of transactions for goods decreases the cost of living, thereby increasing the standard of living for the public (Cebula, Connaughton, & Swartz, 2017). Decreasing organizational expenses may decrease the cost of goods, which makes goods more accessible to more of the population. More variety and quantity of basic needs and luxury goods could potentially arrive at stores faster and cheaper with more available drivers because the cost of traditional recruiting would not transfer to the end-user. Changes in recruiting strategies could have far-reaching positive effects.

Recommendations for Action

The results of this study indicate compensation, benefits, and intrinsic motivation can significantly increase the likelihood that licensed Class A truck drivers will refer their organization as a potential employer to other people. Transportation leaders consistently compete with each other to hire qualified employees in a tight labor market. I suggest transportation leaders take a structured and targeted approach to capital infusion for referral programs such as sign-on bonuses while reducing traditional marketing campaigns. The results of the data indicated the independent variables affected the model most in order of intrinsic motivators, compensation, and benefits. Focusing on increasing intrinsic motivation should cost organizational leaders the least capital to implement. I recommend expanding the satisfaction surveys to include feedback on increasing intrinsic motivation factors such as achievement, recognition, responsibility, and advancement. I also recommend follow up focus groups so leaders can gain situational context to aid managers in helping employees increase intrinsic motivation. Truck drivers live a rough and isolated lifestyle (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019a), which may require leaders to purposefully engage employees. I recommend organizational leaders increase value-added compensation or benefits programs by utilizing some of the capital savings created by using less expensive recruiting methods.

I will share my findings with the gatekeeper at the partner organization, and if requested, I will present my findings to the senior leadership. In addition, I will provide a published copy of this study to the organizational leaders. I expect that the leaders would likely disseminate the results of the published study to the appropriate staff within the organization, such as transportation managers, supervisors, driver trainers, and driver recruiters. I hope the leadership staff will take the recommendations to heart and create programs to increase satisfaction within their driver population. If allowed, I would like to conduct a follow-up study that includes more targeted questions to include actual instances of employees who referred someone else for employment.

Recommendations for Further Research

I recommend replication of the study to see if the results remain consistent with a different sample. Transportation leaders could benefit from future studies by expanding the questions to include actual instances of referral recruiting rather than questions based on theoretical possibilities. Business leaders might gain an even deeper understanding of what factors they should focus on to increase motivation, reduce turnover, and increase referral recruiting by comparing people who have actually referred someone to the independent variables. In addition, organizational leaders could benefit from research when the researchers collect primary data rather than relying on a company-sponsored survey. The secondary data source contained generalized questions, which if narrowed, could provide better insight to researchers and business professionals. The correlational design illustrated a statistical relationship exists among the variables, but based on the histograms and boxplots, most seemed engaged.

The data from this study presented a snapshot in time of the attitudes of current employees. The body of knowledge may benefit from reexamining the data from later years. Also, tracking referrals in the periods following each survey may provide additional insights. I intentionally delimited my study to the Class A drivers in the Illinois-based partner organization to keep the study manageable. Future researchers could expand the population sample by including additional geographical regions, other employees, or other industries. A broader sample could help illustrate if the results apply to a bigger audience.

Reflections

My corporate work experience has included working in the financial services departments. My original study topic of interest started with examining diversity recruiting based on my experiences working with my international customers. Through companywide conferences, I became aware of the challenges concerning turnover and recruiting in the labor-intensive departments. My experience as a business owner in the construction industry enlightened me to the use of referral recruiting, as my recruiting costs as a business owner were nonexistent. I decided to examine how different motivators affect a person's decision to potentially refer someone for employment, in order to help educate business leaders.

Throughout the DBA process I have developed my processes for conceptualizing and researching a topic. When starting the process, I believed it was obvious people would refer others for employment if the conditions warranted. Constructing my literature review challenged my preconceived notions, such as the amount of referral bonus may not matter or that some people may not refer another person even with a potential bonus. My biggest insight from this data set is that in general intrinsic factors affected the model more than compensation and benefits combined in the decision to refer someone else for employment. I would like to continue along this line of study to take a deeper look into the specific intrinsic motivators that employees referred to.

Conclusion

Based on an annual churn rate of 89% (McNally, 2018), the national average cost per employee for recruiting cost of \$3,479 (Gavazza, Mongey, & Violante, (2017), and employing 1,400 drivers, the partner organizational leaders from this study could expect to spend more than \$4.3 million per year in driver recruiting. In Rafaeli et al. (2005), the study organization recruiters hired 13% of referrals with no referral bonus. Pieper et al. (2018) found bonuses above \$1,500 produced very little additional return. A small time investment by supervisors, managers, and leaders in learning and acting on their employees' specific motivators could potentially increase the intrinsic motivations of the employees, thereby potentially increasing employee referrals and positively affecting the bottom line. Increased employee satisfaction and motivation intended to increase referrals could potentially have an additional positive side effect of reducing the churn rate of the organization, further improving productivity and the bottom line.

Licensed Class A truck drivers play a critical role in the U.S. economy. In 2018, truck drivers moved 71.4% of U.S. freight and accounted for 80.3% of the income generated from U.S. freight (McNally, 2019). The U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019b), expects the demand for licensed Class A truck drivers to increase over upcoming years as the demand for goods increases. The organizational leaders who solve the issues of effective recruiting will have a competitive advantage within the transportation industry.

References

- Aanstoos, C. M. (2018). Maslow's hierarchy of needs. In Salem Press encyclopedia of health. Amenia, NY: Grey House Publishing. Retrieved from https://salempress.com/
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The Belmont Report at 40: Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, *108*, 1345-1348. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580
- Ahmad, A. (2018). The relationship among job characteristics organizational commitment and employee turnover intentions: A reciprocation perspective.
 Journal of Work-Applied Management, *10*, 74-92. doi:10.1108/JWAM-09-2017-0027
- Ahmad, W. M. A. W., Aleng, N. A., Ali, Z., & Ibrahim, M. S. M. (2018). Statistical modeling via bootstrapping and weighted techniques based on variances: An oral health case study. *Engineering, Technology & Applied Science Research*, 8, 3135-3140. Retrieved from https://www.etasr.com
- Akyol, E. Y., & Demir, A. (2019). Burnout as a predictor of senior students' mindfulness. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 29, 256-265.
 doi:10.1080/10911359.2018.1518741
- Alhamide, A. A., Ibrahim, K., & Alodat, M. T. (2016). Inference for multiple linear regression model with extended skew normal errors. *Pakistan Journal of Statistics*, 32(2), 81-96. Retrieved from http://www.pakjs.com/
- Ali, M. (2016). Impact of gender-focused human resource management on performance:

The mediating effects of gender diversity. *Australian Journal of Management, 41*, 376-397. doi:10.1177/0312896214565119

- Armstrong, C. S., & Kepler, J. D. (2018). Theory, research design assumptions, and causal inferences. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 66, 366-373. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.08.012
- Asci, M. S. (2017). A strategic differentiator in global competition: Talent management. *International Journal of Commerce and Finance*, 3(1), 51-58. Retrieved from http://ijcf.ticaret.edu.tr
- Ashuri, T., & Bar-Ilan, Y. (2017). Collective action recruitment in a digital age: Applying signaling theory to filtering behaviors. *Communication Theory*, 27, 70-91. doi:10.1111/comt.12108
- Azarhoushang, B., Bramucci, A., Herr, H., & Ruoff, B. (2015). Value chains,
 underdevelopment and union strategy. *International Journal of Labour Research*,
 7(1-2), 153-175. Retrieved from

http://www.ilo.org/actrav/info/pubs/WCMS_158769/lang--en/index.htm

- Baciu, L. E. (2017). Expectancy theory explaining civil servants' work motivation.
 Evidence from a Romanian city hall. USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration, 2(26), 146-160. Retrieved from http://annals.seap.usv.ro/index.php/annals
- Bainbridge, H. T. J., Sanders, K., Cogin, J. A., & Lin, C.-H. (2017). The pervasiveness and trajectory of methodological choices: A 20-year review of human resource management research. *Human Resource Management*, 56, 887-913.

doi:10.1002/hrm.21807

- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. Academy of Management Journal, 51, 1189-1195. doi:10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Barnes, C. M., Dang, C. T., Leavitt, K., Guarana, C. L., & Uhlmann, E. L. (2015). Archival data in micro-organizational research: A toolkit for moving to a broader set of topics. *Journal of Management*, 44, 1453-1478. doi:10.1177/0149206315604188
- Batura, N., Skordis-Worrall, J., Thapa, R., Basnyat, R., & Morrison, J. (2016). Is the Job Satisfaction Survey a good tool to measure job satisfaction amongst health workers in Nepal? Results of a validation analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16(308), 1-13. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1558-4
- Beiu, A., & Davidescu, A. A. (2018). An empirical investigation of the expectancy theory among Romanian employees. *Journal of Social and Economic Statistics*, 7(1), 19-31. Retrieved from http://jses.ase.ro/
- Bektas, C. (2017). Explanation of intrinsic and extrinsic job satisfaction via mirror model.
 Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 5, 627-639.
 doi:10.15295/bmij.v5i3.118
- Belas, J., & Gabcova, L. (2016). The relationship among customer satisfaction, loyalty and financial performance of commercial banks. *E* + *M Ekonomie a Management*, *19*(1), 132-147. doi:10.15240/tul/001/2016-1-010

Bellamy, N. D., Wang, M. Q., McGee, L. A., Liu, J. S., & Robinson, M. E. (2019).

Crisis-counselor perceptions of job training, stress, and satisfaction during disaster recovery. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 11*, 19-27. doi:10.1037/tra0000338

- Benos, N., & Karagiannis, S. (2016). Do education quality and spillovers matter?
 Evidence on human capital and productivity in Greece. *Economic Modelling*, 54, 563-573. doi:10.1016/j.econmod.2016.01.015
- Bercu, A. M., & Onofrei, M. (2017). The empirical research on civil servants' motivation: Evidence from Romania. *Managing Global Transitions*, 15, 399-417. doi:10.26493/1854-6935.15.399-417
- Bercu, B., Portier, B., & Vazquez, V. (2015). A Durbin-Watson serial correlation test for ARX processes via excited adaptive tracking. *International Journal of Control*, 88, 2611-2618. doi:10.1080/00207179.2015.1052017
- Bloemer, J. (2010). The psychological antecedents of employee referrals. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21, 1769-1791.
 doi:10.1080/09585192.2010.500494
- Borah, N., & Malakar, B. G. (2015). Impact of job embeddedness on leave intention. School of Communication Management Studies (SCMS) Journal of Indian Management, 12(4), 83-91. Retrieved from http://www.scmsgroup.org
- Brannan, S., Campbell, R., Davies, M., English, V., Mussell, R., & Sheather, J. C.
 (2016). Report from the national data guardian for health and care. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 42, 690-692. doi:10.1136/medethics-2016-103887

Brewer, E., & Kuhn, J. (2010). Causal-comparative design. In N. J. Salkind (Ed.),

Encyclopedia of research design (pp. 125-131). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. doi:10.4135/9781412961288.n42

- Brown, C. F. (2017). Strategies used by manufacturing managers to recruit skilled workers (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database (Order No. 10279386)
- Brown, M., Setren, E., & Topa, G. (2016). Do informal referrals lead to better matches?
 Evidence from a firm's employee referral system. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 34, 161-209. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2130009
- Burks, S. V., Cowgill, B., Hoffman, M., & Housman, M. (2015). The value of hiring through employee referrals. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *130*, 805-839. doi:10.1093/qje/qjv010
- Cardoso, M., Fulton, F., Callaghan, J. P., Johnson, M., & Albert, W. J. (2018). A pre/post evaluation of fatigue, stress and vigilance amongst commercially licensed truck drivers performing a prolonged driving task. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics: JOSE, 25*, 344-354. doi:10.1080/10803548.2018.1491666
- Cebula, R. J., Connaughton, J., & Swartz, C. (2017). Factors influencing inter-regional living-cost differentials: Panel data analysis for the case of the U.S. *Economia Internazionale/ International Economics*, 70, 281-300. Retrieved from http://www.iei1946.it/en/rivista.php
- Cerniglia, J. A., Fabozzi, F. J., & Kolm, P. N. (2016). Best practices in research for quantitative equity strategies. *Journal of Portfolio Management*, *42*(5), 135-143.

doi:10.3905/jpm.2016.42.5.135

- Cheng, H., Song, F., & Li, D. (2017). How middle managers' participation in decisionmaking influences firm innovation performance: Evidence from China Employer-Employee Survey Data. *Chinese Management Studies*, *11*, 72-89. doi:10.1108/CMS-12-2016-0253
- Cotteleer, M. J., & Wan, X. (2016). Does the starting point matter? The literature-driven and the phenomenon-driven approaches of using corporate archival data in academic research. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 37, 26-33. doi:10.1111/jbl.12114
- Covington-Ward, Y. (2017). African immigrants in low-wage direct health care: Motivations, job satisfaction, and occupational mobility. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 19*, 709-715. doi:10.1007/s10903-016-0400-8
- Crutzen, R., & Peters, G.-J. Y. (2017). Scale quality: Alpha is an inadequate estimate and factor-analytic evidence is needed first of all. *Health Psychology Review*, *11*, 242-247. doi:10.1080/17437199.2015.1124240
- Curtis, E. A., Comiskey, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher*, 23(6), 20-25. doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1382
- Dai, J., Hu, H., Hu, Q., Huang, W., Zheng, N., & Liang, L. (2018). Local linear approximation approach for incomplete data. *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, 48, 1720-1732. doi:10.1109/TCYB.2017.2713989
- Dailey, S. L. (2016). What happens before full-time employment? Internships as a mechanism of anticipatory socialization. *Western Journal of Communication*, 80,

- Dalessandro, C. (2018). Recruitment tools for reaching millennials: The digital difference. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *17*, 1-7. doi:10.1177/1609406918774446
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Self-determination and intrinsic motivation in human behavior. New York, NY: Springer.
- de Crom, N., & Rothmann, S. I. (2018). Corrigendum: Demands–abilities fit, work beliefs, meaningful work and engagement in nature-based jobs. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 44(1496), 1-12. doi:10.4102/sajip.v44i0.1615
- Derfler-Rozin, R., Baker, B., & Gino, F. (2018). Compromised ethics in hiring processes? How referrers' power affects employees' reactions to referral practices. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61, 615-636. doi:10.5465/amj.2015.1355
- Dorestani, A., & Aliabadi, S. (2017). Correlation, association, causation, and Granger causation in accounting research. *Academy of Accounting & Financial Studies Journal*, 21(3), 1-13. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-accounting-and-financial-studies-journal-home.html
- Duffy, B. E., & Schwartz, B. (2018). Digital "women's work?": Job recruitment ads and the feminization of social media employment. *New Media & Society*, 20, 2972-2989. doi:10.1177/1461444817738237

Dutcă, I., Stăncioiu, P. T., Abrudan, I. V., & Ioraș, F. (2018). Using clustered data to

develop biomass allometric models: The consequences of ignoring the clustered data structure. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(8), 1-17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0200123

- Dyer, J. H., Godfrey, P., Jensen, R., & Bryce, D. (2016). Strategic management: Concepts and tools for creating real world strategy. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Eekhout, I., van de Wiel, M. A., & Heymans, M. W. (2017). Methods for significance testing of categorical covariates in logistic regression models after multiple imputation: Power and applicability analysis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(129) 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12874-017-0404-7
- Ekinci, E. (2016). Employee referrals as a screening device. *Rand Journal of Economics*, 47, 688-708. doi:10.1111/1756-2171.12141
- Ellemers, N., & Rink, F. (2016). Diversity in work groups. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *11*, 49-53. doi:10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.06.001
- Ellis, C., Skidmore, S. T., & Combs, J. P. (2017). The hiring process matters: The role of person-job and person-organization fit in teacher satisfaction. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 53, 448-474. doi:10.1177/0013161X16687007
- Ellram, L. M., & Tate, W. L. (2016). The use of secondary data in purchasing and supply management (P/SM) research. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 22, 250-254. doi:10.1016/j.pursup.2016.08.005
- El-Masri, M. M. (2017a). Non-probability sampling. *Canadian Nurse*, *113*(2), 17. Retrieved from https://canadian-nurse.com/

El-Masri, M. M. (2017b). Probability sampling. Canadian Nurse, 113(2), 26. Retrieved

from https://canadian-nurse.com/

Eneh, S. I., & Awara, N. F. (2016). Strategic human resource management practices and organizational growth: A theoretical perspective. *Global Journal of Social Sciences*, 15, 27-37. doi:10.4314/gjss.v15i1.3

Fareed, K., & Jan, F. A. (2016). Cross-cultural validation test of Herzberg's two factor theory: An analysis of bank officers working in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 10, 285-300. Retrieved from http://www.gurtuba.edu.pk/jms/

- Farooq, R. (2016). Role of structural equation modeling in scale development. (2016). Journal of Advances in Management Research, 13(1), 78-91. doi:10.1108/JAMR-05-2015-0037
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. doi:10.3758/brm.41.4.1149
- Feather, R. (2015). Tools assessing nurse manager behaviours and RN job satisfaction: A review of the literature. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23, 726-735. doi:10.1111/jonm.1220
- Filbeck, G., Foster, B., Preece, D., & Zhao, X. (2017). Does diversity improve profits and shareholder returns? Evidence from top rated companies for diversity and *DiversityInc. Advances in Accounting*, *37*, 94-102. doi:10.1016/j.adiac.2017.02.001

Flynn, M. C., Pillay, H., & Watters, J. (2016). Industry-school partnerships: Boundary
crossing to enable school to work transitions. *Journal of Education and Work, 29*, 309-331. doi:10.1080/13639080.2014.934789

Font, B. (2016). Bootstrap estimation of the efficient frontier. *Computational Management Science*, *13*, 541-570. doi:10.1007/s10287-016-0257-2

Frederiksen, A. (2017). Job satisfaction and employee turnover: A firm-level perspective. German Journal of Human Resource Management: Zeitschrift Für Personalforschung, 31, 132-161. doi:10.1177/2397002216683885

- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont Report? American Journal of Bioethics, 17(7), 15-21. doi:10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482
- Galletta, M., Portoghese, I., Melis, P., Aviles Gonzalez, C. I., Finco, G., D'Aloja, E., . . .
 Campagna, M. (2019). The role of collective affective commitment in the relationship between work–family conflict and emotional exhaustion among nurses: A multilevel modeling approach. *BMC Nursing*, *18*(5), 1-9. doi:10.1186/s12912-019-0329-z
- Garcia-Perez, M. A. (2012). Statistical conclusion validity: Some common threats and simple remedies. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3(325), 1-11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00325
- Gavazza, A., Mongey, S., & Violante, G. L. (2017). Aggregate recruiting intensity. *American Economic Review*, *108*, 2088-2127. doi:10.3386/w22677
- George, R., Chiba, M., & Scheepers, C. B. (2017). An investigation into the effect of leadership style on stress-related presenteeism in South African knowledge

workers. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management, 15*(754), 1-13. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v15i0.754

- Gonzalez, L., & Rivares, L. (2018). Analysis of the impact of referral-based recruitment on job attitudes and turnover in temporary agency workers. *Employee Relations*, 4, 89-105. doi:10.1108/ER-11-2016-0212
- Gorenca, A., & Kuro, T. (2018). The sensitivity of the effect of on-the-job training on employment outcomes in experimental and non-experimental settings. *Acta Universitatis Danubius: Oeconomica*, 14(5), 141-153. Retrieved from http://journals.univ-danubius.ro/index.php/oeconomica/
- Green, P., & MacLeod, C. J. (2016). SIMR: An R package for power analysis of generalized linear mixed models by simulation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 493-498. doi:10.1111/2041-210X.12504
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2017). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.

Greener, S. (2018). Research limitations: The need for honesty and common sense. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 26, 567-568. doi:10.1080/10494820.2018.1486785

Groen, B. A. C., Wouters, M. J. F., & Wilderom, C. P. M. (2017). Employee participation, performance metrics, and job performance: A survey study based on self-determination theory. *Management Accounting Research*, 36, 51-66. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2016.10.001

Hartebrodt, C., & Chtioui, Y. (2016). Balance impossible? Between customizability and

comparability of employee satisfaction surveys. *Acta Silvatica et Lignaria Hungarica*, *12*, 89-102. doi:10.1515/aslh-2016-0008

- Hasanefendic, S., Heitor, M., & Horta, H. (2016). Training students for new jobs: The role of technical and vocational higher education and implications for science policy in Portugal. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *113*, 328-340. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2015.12.005
- Hashim, M. H., Nawawi, A., & Salin, A. S. A. P. (2014). Determinants of strategic information disclosure - Malaysian evidence. *International Journal of Business & Society*, 15, 547-572. Retrieved from http://www.ijbs.unimas.my/
- Hatami, A., Vosoughi, S., Hosseini, A. F., & Ebrahimi, H. (2019). Effect of co-driver on job content and depression of truck drivers. *Safety and Health at Work*, *10*, 75-79. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2018.06.001
- Helbling, C. (2018). Cultivate and sustain motivation. *Chemical Engineering Progress*, *114*(7), 40-45. Retrieved from https://www.aiche.org/resources/publications/cep
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (2017). *The motivation to work*. London, England: Routledge.
- Hickey, G. L., Kontopantelis, E., Takkenberg, J. J. M., & Beyersdorf, F. (2019).
 Statistical primer: Checking model assumptions with regression diagnostics. *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*, 28, 1-8.
 doi:10.1093/icvts/ivy207
- Hill, T. J. (2017). No money down: Nonprofit talent acquisition and retention strategies that can stretch training budgets and increase employee engagement. *Training*

Magazine, 54(5), 44-46. Retrieved from https://trainingmag.com/

- Hinkin, T. R., & Tracey, J. B. (2000). The cost of turnover. *Cornell Hotel & Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, *41*(3), 14-21. doi:10.1177/001088040004100313
- Hoffman-Miller, P. (2019). Expectancy theory. In *Salem Press encyclopedia of health*. Amenia, NY: Grey House Publishing. Retrieved from https://salempress.com/
- Holmberg, C., Sobis, I., & Caro, E. (2017). Job satisfaction among Swedish mental health nursing staff: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Public Administration, 39*, 429-436. doi:10.1080/01900692.2015.1018432
- Jin, Y., & Qi, X. (2018). The SPSS-based analysis of reading comprehension-Take grade eight English mid-term test for example. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 9, 939-945. doi:10.17507/jltr.0905.06
- Jing, Q., Shuwen, C., & Zaidi, Z. H. (2017). Three-factor theory from the perspective of incentive process. *International Research Journal of Art & Humanities*, 45, 77-91. Retrieved from http://sujo.usindh.edu.pk/index.php/IRJAH
- Ju, D., Ma, L., Ren, R., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Empowered to break the silence: Applying self-determination theory to employee silence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10(485), 1-10. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00485
- Jyothi, J. (2016). Non-monetary benefits & its effectiveness in motivating employees.
 CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management, 7(5),
 45-48. Retrieved from https://ijrcm.org.in/
- Kalhoro, M., Jhatial, A. A., & Khokhar, S. (2017). Investigating the influence of extrinsic and intrinsic motivation on work performance: Study of bank officers. *Global*

Management Journal for Academic & Corporate Studies, 7(1), 121-129.

Retrieved from https://gmjacs.bahria.edu.pk/

- Kaliyadan, F., & Kulkarni, V. (2019). Types of variables, descriptive statistics, and sample size. *Indian Dermatology Online Journal, 10*, 82-86.
 doi:10.4103/idoj.IDOJ_468_18
- Kaplan, R. M., Chambers, D. A., & Glasgow, R. E. (2014). Big data and large sample size: A cautionary note on the potential for bias. *CTS: Clinical & Translational Science*, 7, 342-346. doi:10.1111/cts.12178

Kotni, V. V. D. P., & Karumuri, V. (2018). Application of Herzberg two-factor theory model for motivating retail salesforce. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *17*(1), 24-42. Retrieved from

https://www.iupindia.in/Organizational_Behavior.asp

- Kozak, M., & Piepho, H.-P. (2018). What's normal anyway? Residual plots are more telling than significance tests when checking ANOVA assumptions. *Journal of Agronomy & Crop Science*, 204, 86-98. doi:10.1111/jac.12220
- Koziol, N. A., & Bovaird, J. A. (2018). The impact of model parameterization and estimation methods on tests of measurement invariance with ordered polytomous data. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 78, 272-296. doi:10.1177/0013164416683754

Kulikowski, K. (2017). Do we all agree on how to measure work engagement? Factorial validity of Utrecht Work Engagement Scale as a standard measurement tool - A literature review. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and*

Environmental Health, 30, 161-175. doi:10.13075/ijomeh1896.0094

- Kuvaas, B., Buch, R., Weibel, A., Dysvik, A., & Nerstad, C. G. L. (2017). Do intrinsic and extrinsic motivation relate differently to employee outcomes? *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 61, 244-258. doi:10.1016/j.joep.2017.05.004
- Lam, S., & Hawkes, B. (2017). From analytics to action: how Shell digitized recruitment. *Strategic HR Review*, *16*, 76-80. doi:10.1108/SHR-01-2017-0005
- Lappe, J. M. (2000). Taking the mystery out of research: Descriptive correlational design. Orthopaedic Nursing, 19(2), 81. Retrieved from https://journals.lww.com/orthopaedicnursing/pages/default.aspx
- Lee, K., Hope, J., & Abdulghani, F. (2016). Planned approaches to business and school partnerships. Does it make a difference? The business perspective. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 55, 35-45. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.11.002
- Lee, X., Yang, B., & Li, W. (2017). The influence factors of job satisfaction and its relationship with turnover intention: Taking early-career employees as an example. *Anales De Psicologia*, 33, 697-707. doi:10.6018/analesps.33.3.238551
- Leichsenring, F., Abbass, A., Hilsenroth, M. J., Leweke, F., Luyten, P., Keefe, J. R., . . . Steinert, C. (2017). Biases in research: Risk factors for non-replicability in psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy research. *Psychological Medicine*, 47, 1000-1011. doi:10.1017/S003329171600324X

Leung, S.-O. (2011). A comparison of psychometric properties and normality in 4-, 5-,
6-, -, and 11-point Likert scales. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *37*, 412-421.
doi:10.1080/01488376.2011.580697

- Lips-Wiersma, M., & Mills, A. J. (2013). Understanding the basic assumptions about human nature in workplace spirituality: Beyond the critical versus positive divide. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 23, 148-161. doi:10.1177/1056492613501227
- Liu, M. (2017). Data collection mode differences between national face-to-face and web surveys on gender inequality and discrimination questions. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 60, 11-16. doi:10.1016/j.wsif.2016.11.007
- Liu, Y., & Wohlsdorf Arendt, S. (2016). Development and validation of a work motive measurement scale. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28, 700-716. doi:10.1108/ijchm-02-2014-0091
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, 14(1), 24-37. Retrieved from http://www.imrjournal.org/
- Lo, M. L. (2016). You can only see what you have chosen to see: Overcoming the limitations inherent in our theoretical lenses. *International Journal for Lesson & Learning Studies*, 5, 170-179. doi:10.1108/IJLLS-05-2016-0011
- Lobzhanidze, G., Chikhladze, N., Pitskhelauri, N., & Tsiskaridze, A. (2016). Ethical considerations in non-experimental studies: Georgian and Norwegian experience. *Public Health*, *139*, 228-230. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2016.05.013
- Mahanta, P., Choudhury, G. A., & Dey, T. (2018). An effective method to estimate missing value for heterogonous dataset. *International Journal of Knowledge Based Computer Systems*, 6(2), 8-22. Retrieved from http://www.publishingindia.com/ijkbcs/

- Malik, W. U., Javed, M., & Hassan, S. T. (2017). Influence of transformational leadership components on job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce & Social Sciences*, 11, 146-165. Retrieved from http://jespk.net/
- Marks, A., AL-Ali, M., Majdalawieh, M., & Bani-Hani, A. (2017). Improving academic decision-making through course evaluation technology. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 12(11), 4-14. doi:10.3991/ijet.v12.i11.6987
- Martin, J. C., Roman, C., & Gonzaga, C. (2018). How different n-point Likert scales affect the measurement of satisfaction in academic conference. *International Journal for Quality Research*, 12, 421-440. doi:10.18421/IJQR12.02-08
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review*, 50, 370-396. doi:10.1037/h0054346
- Matei, M.-C., & Abrudan, M.-M. (2016). Adapting Herzberg's two factor theory to the cultural context of Romania. *Proceedia: Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 221, 95-104. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.094
- McNally, S. (2017). Truckload turnover rate plummets in fourth quarter: The churn rate at large and small fleets dropped by double digits. Retrieved from https://www.trucking.org/
- McNally, S. (2018). Fourth quarter truck driver turnover rate shows muddled picture: Churn at large truckload fleets sunk, but rate rose at smaller carriers. Retrieved from https://www.trucking.org/

McNally, S. (2019). Trucking industry revenues top \$796 billion in 2018. Retrieved from

https://www.trucking.org/

- Meyvis, T., & Van Osselaer, S. M. J. (2018). Increasing the power of your study by increasing the effect size. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 44, 1157-1173. doi:10.1093/jcr/ucx110
- Minnaar, L., & Heystek, J. (2013). Online surveys as data collection instruments in education research: A feasible option? *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 27(1) 162-183. doi:10.20853/27-1-233
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont report: The triple crown of research ethics. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing: DCCN*, 35, 223-228.
 doi:10.1097/DCC.00000000000186
- Mittal, N., Udayakumar, P. D., Raghuram, G., & Bajaj, N. (2018). The endemic issue of truck driver shortage: A comparative study between India and the United States. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 71, 76-84.
 doi:10.1016/j.retrec.2018.06.005
- Moore, D. A. (2017). How to improve the accuracy and reduce the cost of personnel selection. *California Management Review*, 60(1), 8-17.
 doi:10.1177/0008125617725288
- Morgan, D. L. (2018). Living within blurry boundaries: The value of distinguishing between qualitative and quantitative research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12, 268-279. doi:10.1177/1558689816686433
- Nahm, F. S. (2016). Nonparametric statistical tests for the continuous data: The basic concept and the practical use. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, *69*, 8-14.

doi:10.4097/kjae.2016.69.1.8

- Nimon, K. F., & Oswald, F. L. (2013). Understanding the results of multiple linear regression: Beyond standardized regression coefficients. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16, 650-674. doi:10.1177/1094428113493929
- Nørreklit, H., Nørreklit, L., & Mitchell, F. (2016). Understanding practice generalisation
 opening the research/practice gap. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, *13*, 278-302. doi:10.1108/QRAM-09-2015-0088
- Northouse, P. G. (2016). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (7th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Olafsen, A. H., Niemiec, C. P., Halvari, H., Deci, E. L., & Williams, G. C. (2017). On the dark side of work: A longitudinal analysis using self-determination theory. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26, 275-285. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2016.1257611
- Oro, S. R., Neto, A. C., Mafioleti, T. R., Garcia, S. R. P., & Neumann, C., Jr. (2016). Multivariate analysis of the displacement of a concrete dam with respect to the action of environmental conditions. *Independent Journal of Management & Production*, 7, 526-545. doi:10.14807/ijmp.v7i2.413
- Osborne, S., & Hammoud, M. S. (2017). Effective employee engagement in the workplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, 16, 50-67. doi:10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.04
- Ostrow, L., Penney, D., Stuart, E., & Leaf, P. J. (2017). Web-based survey data collection with peer support and advocacy organizations: Implications of participatory

methods. Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action, 11, 45-52. doi:10.1353/cpr.2017.0006

- Owen, P. D. (2018). Replication to assess statistical adequacy. *Economics- The Open Access Open-Assessment E-Journal, 12*, 1-16. doi:10.5018/economicsejournal.ja.2018-60
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.ejmt.org/
- Parke, C. S. (2013). Essential first steps to data analysis: Scenario-based examples using SPSS. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781506335148
- Patterson, F., Prescott-Clements, L., Zibarras, L., Edwards, H., Kerrin, M., & Cousans, F. (2016). Recruiting for values in healthcare: A preliminary review of the evidence.
 Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice, 21, 859-881.
 doi:10.1007/s10459-014-9579-4
- Pieper, J. R. (2015). Uncovering the nuances of referral hiring: How referrer characteristics affect referral hires' performance and likelihood of voluntary turnover. *Personnel Psychology*, 68, 811-858. doi:10.1111/peps.12097
- Pieper, J. R., Greenwald, J. M., & Schlachter, S. D. (2018). Motivating employee referrals: The interactive effects of the referral bonus, perceived risk in referring, and affective commitment. *Human Resource Management*, 57, 1159-1174. doi:10.1002/hrm.21895

Podsakoff, P. M., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2019). Experimental designs in management and

leadership research: Strengths, limitations, and recommendations for improving publishability. *Leadership Quarterly, 30*, 11-33. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.11.002

- Pound, P., & Ritskes-Hoitinga, M. (2018). Is it possible to overcome issues of external validity in preclinical animal research? Why most animal models are bound to fail. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *16*(304) 1-8. doi:10.1186/s12967-018-1678-1
- Prada-Ramallal, G., Roque, F., Herdeiro, M. T., Takkouche, B., & Figueiras, A. (2018).
 Primary versus secondary source of data in observational studies and heterogeneity in meta-analyses of drug effects: A survey of major medical journals. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*(97) 1-14. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0561-3
- Rafaeli, A., Hadomi, O., & Simons, T. (2005). Recruiting through advertising or employee referrals: Costs, yields, and the effects of geographic focus. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *14*, 355-366. doi:10.1080/13594320500183709
- Rahimi, I., Divsalar, K., Rezvani, M., & Aramoon, S. S. (2016). The relationship between lifeguards' needs and their job satisfaction based on Maslow's hierarchy of needs.
 Report of Health Care, 2(2), 23-30. Retrieved from http://jrhc.miau.ac.ir
- Reio, T. G. (2016). Nonexperimental research: Strengths, weaknesses and issues of precision. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40, 676-690. doi:10.1108/ejtd-07-2015-0058

Renard, M., & Snelgar, R. (2015). Correlating non-profit employees' levels of salary

satisfaction with their intrinsic rewards: A South African study. *African Journal of Reward, 1*, 1-26. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net

- Renaud, S., Morin, L., & Bechard, A. (2017). Traditional benefits versus perquisites: A longitudinal test of their differential impact on employee turnover. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 16, 91-103. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000180
- Richardson, R., & Gabbin, A. (2016). Recruiting the best: What CPAs could learn from college coaches. *Journal of Accountancy*, 222(2), 44-51. Retrieved from https://www.journalofaccountancy.com
- Ross, B. M., & Barnes, D. M. (2018). Self-determination theory with application to employee health settings. *Workplace Health & Safety*, 66, 367-372. doi:10.1177/2165079917749863
- Ross, M. W., Iguchi, M. Y., & Panicker, S. (2018). Ethical aspects of data sharing and research participant protections. *American Psychologist*, *73*, 138-145. doi:10.1037/amp0000240
- Russell, S., & Brannan, M. J. (2016). Getting the right people on the bus: Recruitment, selection and integration for the branded organization. *European Management Journal, 34*, 114-124. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2016.01.001
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Exploring the evidence. Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45, 209-213. Retrieved from https://www.annanurse.org

Sage, R. A. (2016). Qualitative perceptions of opportunity and job qualities in rural

health care work. *Online Journal of Rural Nursing & Health Care, 16*(1), 154-194. doi:10.14574/ojrnhc.v16i1.382

- Salmeron, R., Garcia, C. B., & Garcia, J. (2018). Variance inflation factor and condition number in multiple linear regression. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 88, 2365-2384. doi:10.1080/00949655.2018.1463376
- Salmerón Gómez, R., García Pérez, J., López Martín, M. D. M., & García, C. G. (2016).
 Collinearity diagnostic applied in ridge estimation through the variance inflation factor. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 43, 1831-1849.
 doi:10.1080/02664763.2015.1120712
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Essex, England: Pearson Education.
- Sawitri, D., & Muis, M. (2014). Human resource management: A strategic theoretical perspective. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 6(3), 6-20. Retrieved from http://ijoi.fp.expressacademic.org/
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2004). UWES Work Engagement Scale: Test manual Unpublished manuscript. Utrecht, The Netherlands: Department of Psychology, Utrecht University.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Salanova, M. (2006). The measurement of work engagement with a short questionnaire: A cross-national study. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 66, 701-716. doi:10.1177/0013164405282471
- Schenker, J. D., & Rumrill, P. D., Jr. (2004). Causal-comparative research designs. Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation, 21(3), 117-121. Retrieved from

https://www.iospress.nl/journal/journal-of-vocational-rehabilitation/

- Schlechter, A. F., Syce, C., & Bussin, M. (2016). Predicting voluntary turnover in employees using demographic characteristics: A South African case study. *Acta Commercii*, 16(274), 1-10. doi:10.4102/ac.v16i1.274
- Serb, E. D., Cicioc, N., Paun, M., & Funieru, C. (2016). Employment level analysis from the determinant factors perspective. *Ecoforum*, 5, 266-273. Retrieved from http://www.ecoforumjournal.ro/index.php/eco/index
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 5: Sampling strategies. Indian Journal of Dermatology, 61, 505-509. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.190118
- Shonubi, O. A., Abdullah, N., Hashim, R., & Ab Hamid, N. B. (2016). Recognition and appreciation and the moderating role of self-esteem on job satisfaction and performance among IT employees in Melaka. *Journal of Health Science*, 4, 221-227. doi:10.17265/2328-7136/2016.05.001
- Shuck, B., Zigarmi, D., & Owen, J. (2015). Psychological needs, engagement, and work intentions: A Bayesian multi-measurement mediation approach and implications for HRD. *European Journal of Training and Development, 39*, 2-21. doi:10.1108/EJTD-082014-0061
- Shurden, M., Santandreu, J., & Shurden, S. (2016). An application of partial least squares path analysis to student satisfaction. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 20(2), 51-61. Retrieved from http://www.abacademies.org
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Scope, limitations, and delimitations. Retrieved from http://dissertationrecipes.com/wp-

content/uploads/2011/04/limitationscopedelimitation1.pdf

- Snelgar, R., Shelton, S. A., & Giesser, A. (2017). A comparison of South African and German extrinsic and intrinsic motivation. *South African Journal of Economic* and Management Sciences, 20(1552), 1-12. doi:10.4102/sajems.v20i1.1552
- Spector, P. E. (1994). *Job Satisfaction Survey*. Retrieved from www.http://shell.cas.usf.edu/~spector/scales/jsspag
- Staats, U., Lohaus, D., Christmann, A., & Woitschek, M. (2017). Fighting against a shortage of truck drivers in logistics: Measures that employers can take to promote drivers' work ability and health. *Work-A Journal of Prevention Assessment & Rehabilitation, 58*, 383-397. doi:10.3233/WOR-172626
- Steffee, S. (2016). Best practices vs. reality: Attracting talent tops the strategic challenges boards face. *Internal Auditor*, 73(3), 11-13. Retrieved from: http://www.theiia.org/intauditor/
- Stephanie, & Gustomo, A. (2015). Proposal to improve employee engagement in PT Maju Sentosa by AON Hewitt Model and Mercer Model. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 169, 363-370. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.321
- Stockman, S., Van Hoye, G., & Carpentier, M. (2017). The dark side of employee referral bonus programs: Potential applicants' awareness of a referral bonus and perceptions of organisational attractiveness. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 66, 599-627. doi:10.1111/apps.12100
- Stroud, D., & Hopkins, A. (2016). Aspects of mutual engagement: School of engineering and industry collaborations. *Higher Education Pedagogies*, 1, 30-41.

- Suarez-Alvarez, J., Pedrosa, I., Lozano, L. M., Garcia-Cueto, E., Cuesta, M., & Muniz, J. (2018). Using reversed items in Likert scales: A questionable practice. *Psicothema*, 30, 149-158. doi:10.7334/psicothema2018.33
- Sun, M., & Lipsitz, S. R. (2018). Comparative effectiveness research methodology using secondary data: A starting user's guide. Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations, 36(4), 174-182. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2017.10.011
- Swartz, S. M., Douglas, M. A., Roberts, M. D., & Overstreet, R. E. (2017). Leavin' on my mind: Influence of safety climate on truck drivers' job attitudes and intentions to leave. *Transportation Journal*, *56*, 184-209. doi:10.5325/transportationj.56.2.0184
- Sykes, B. L., Verma, A., & Hancock, B. H. (2018). Aligning sampling and case selection in quantitative-qualitative research designs: Establishing generalizability limits in mixed-method studies. *Ethnography*, 19, 227-253.

doi:10.1177/1466138117725341

- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics (5th ed.). Boston,MA: Pearson.
- Tania, M. (2016). What do people want from their jobs? A dual factor analysis based on gender differences. *Journal of Social & Economic Statistics*, 5(1), 42-55. Retrieved from http://jses.ase.ro/
- Terry, P. E. (2013). Transcending carrots and sticks: a review of self-determination theory. *American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP, 27*(6), TAHP1-TAHP12.

doi:10.4278/ajhp.27.6.tahp

- Thiele, T., Pope, D., Singleton, A., & Stanistreet, D. (2018). Exploring the use of mixed methods in research and evaluation of widening participation interventions:
 Guidance for practitioners. *Widening Participation & Lifelong Learning*, 20(4), 7-38. doi:10.5456/WPLL.20A.7
- Tian, W., Yu, M., & Zhang, R. (2017). International trade and firm innovation: patterns and evidence from the Chinese Employer-Employee Survey data. *China Economic Journal*, 10(1), 4-17. doi:10.1080/17538963.2016.1274008

Trajkovski, V. (2016). How to select appropriate statistical test in scientific articles. *Journal of Special Education and Rehabilitation*, 17(3-4), 5-28.
doi:10.19057/jser.2016.7

- Tripathi, P., & Pandey, M. K. (2017). Examining the relationship between work-family conflict, job satisfaction and employee's turnover intention. *Journal of Psychosocial Research*, 1, 451-459. Retrieved from https://www.mdppl.in/journal/journal-psychosocial-research
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Secretary, The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019a). Occupational employment and wages, May 2017: (BLS Report No. 53-3032 heavy and tractor-

trailer truck drivers). Washington, DC. Retrieved from

https://www.bls.gov/oes/2017/may/oes533032.htm

- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019b). Occupational outlook handbook: Heavy and tractor-trailer truck drivers. Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/ooh/transportation-and-material-moving/heavy-andtractor-trailer-truck-drivers.htm
- Van Hoye, G. (2013). Recruiting through employee referrals: An examination of employees' motives. *Human Performance*, *26*, 451-464.
 doi:10.1080/08959285.2013.836199
- Vaske, J. J., Beaman, J., & Sponarski, C. C. (2017). Rethinking internal consistency in Cronbach's Alpha. *Leisure Sciences*, 39, 163-173. doi:10.1080/01490400.2015.1127189
- Vetter, T. R. (2017). Fundamentals of research data and variables: The devil is in the details. Anesthesia & Analgesia, 125, 1375-1380. doi:10.1213/ANE.00000000002370
- Vivek, S. D., Beatty, S. E., Dalela, V., & Morgan, R. M. (2014). A generalized multidimensional scale for measuring customer engagement. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 22, 401-420. doi:10.2753/MTP1069-6679220404
- Wartiovaara, M., Lahti, T., & Wincent, J. (2019). The role of inspiration in entrepreneurship: Theory and the future research agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 101, 548-554. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.11.035

Weijters, B., Geuens, M., & Schillewaert, N. (2009). The proximity effect: The role of

inter-item distance on reverse- item bias. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 26, 2-12. doi:10.1016/j.ijresmar.2008.09.003

- Williams, D. F., Thomas, S. P., & Liao-Troth, S. (2017). The truck driver experience:
 Identifying psychological stressors from the voice of the driver. *Transportation Journal*, 56, 184-209. doi:10.5325/transportationj.56.1.0054
- Wilson, V. (2014). Research methods: Sampling. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 9(2), 45-47. Retrieved from

https://journals.library.ualberta.ca/eblip/index.php/EBLIP

- Wolthoff, R. (2018). Applications and interviews: Firms' recruiting decisions in a frictional labour market. *Review of Economic Studies*, 85, 1314-1351.
 doi:10.1093/restud/rdx045
- Wu, H., & Leung, S.-O. (2017). Can Likert scales be treated as interval scales? A simulation study. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 43, 527-532.
 doi:10.1080/01488376.2017.1329775
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Zeitz, G., Blau, G., & Fertig, J. (2009). Boundaryless careers and institutional resources. International Journal of Human Resource Management, 20, 372-398. doi:10.1080/09585190802670763

Zhang, J., Zhao, Y., & Wang, Y. (2016). A study on statistical methods used in six journals of library and information science. *Online Information Review*, 40, 416-434. doi:10.1108/OIR-07-2015-0247 Zientek, L., Nimon, K., & Hammack-Brown, B. (2016). Analyzing data from a pretestposttest control group design: The importance of statistical assumptions.
 European Journal of Training and Development, 40, 638-659. doi:10.1108/EJTD-08-2015-0066

117

Appendix A: Company Employee Satisfaction Survey Questions that Align with the

Study Variables

	Qu	Question	Variable		
estion #					
	15	Overall, the company's* benefit plan	Independent Variable		
71024		meets my (and my family's) needs well	Benefits		
	15	Compared with other places I might	Independent Variable		
71025		work, I feel I am fairly paid	Compensation		
	15	The company* inspires me to do my	Independent Variable		
71031		best work every day	Intrinsic		
	15	The company* motivates me to	Independent Variable		
71032		contribute more than is normally	Intrinsic		
		required to complete my work			
	15	Given the opportunity, I tell others great	Dependent Variable		
71033		things about working here	·		
	15	I receive think about leaving the			
	13	i rarery mink about leaving the			
71034		company* to work somewhere else			

	15	I would not hesitate to recommend the	Dependent Variable
71035		company* to a friend seeking	
		employment	

- 15 It would take a lot to get me to leave the
- 71036 company*

*Questions modified to protect the identity of the partner organization